
T O W N  O F  B E L G R A D E  

Meeting Agenda 
BOARD OF SELECTPERSONS 

OCTOBER 17, 2023 / REGULAR MEETING 6:30 P.M. 
BELGRADE TOWN OFFICE 

This meeting will be conducted in person. The public may also view the meeting and participate online 
at https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81131427984 

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

Establish quorum. 

Open Meeting 

1. Public Comment

2. Review and approve minutes of October 3, 2023

3. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

A. Harassment and Bullying Policy

B. Security Camera Policy

C. McGrath Pond Road Speed Limit

D. American Rescue Funds

4. NEW BUSINESS

A. Appointments/Resignations

B. Assessing Services RFP

C. Consideration to move the November 7 meeting to November 8 due to elections

D. Central Maine Power Pole Permit Application – Wings Mills Road

5. OTHER BUSINESS

6. WARRANTS

7. TOWN MANAGER REPORT

8. EXECUTIVE SESSION 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)A – personnel matter, if needed.

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81131427984


Memo 
_______________________________ 

Minutes 

 

Review and approve minutes of October 3, 2023. 



T O W N  O F  B E L G R A D E  

Meeting Minutes 
BOARD OF SELECTPERSONS 

OCTOBER 3, 2023 / REGULAR MEETING 6:30 P.M. 
BELGRADE TOWN OFFICE 

This meeting was conducted in person. The public may also view the meeting online at 
https://youtu.be/M6lWp9xKTJE 

Present: Chair Barbara Allen, Vice Chair Carol Johnson, Selectperson Daniel Newman, Selectperson Peter 
Rushton, Town Manager Lorna Nichols, Bruce Galouch, Cory Alexander, Pat Donahue, Jamie Dionne, Dan 
MacGlashing, Loyce Haslett, Valerie Cummings, Francis Frappier, Sara Languet, Donald Clark. Selectperson 
Melanie Jewell absent. 

Remote participants: Richard Bourne, Lenny Reich, Doug Sawyer. 

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance by Chair Barbara Allen at 6:30 p.m. 

Quorum established. 

Open Meeting 

Public Hearing: GA Maximums 

No comments 

Public Hearing Junkyard Permits 

Motion to table until later in the meeting as the code enforcement officer was not present to answer 
questions. 

CEO Hans Rasmussen joined the Zoom call later in the meeting and answered questions from the 
Board of Selectpersons about the clean-up, process going forward and expectations of the permit 
holders. 

Motion to approve the Junkyard permit for Francis Frappier at 242 Oakland Road by Chair 
Barbara Allen, seconded by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion to approve the Junkyard permit for Raymond Frappier at 32 Dustin Drive by Chair 
Barbara Allen, seconded by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 

Public Comment 

Donald Clark brought an issue before the Board re: the speed limit on McGrath Pond Road. It is 
currently 45mph and several residents would like to see that reduced to 35mph. This will be taken up at 
the October 17 Selectboard meeting. 
 
Sara Languet mentioned there is a great article in the October 2 edition of the Morning Sentinel about 
RSU 18 facility improvements to various schools within the district. 
 

Review and approve minutes of September 19, 2023 

Motion to approve minutes as presented by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by Vice Chair Carol 
Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Emergency Closing Policy 



Motion to approve the Emergency Closing Policy by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by 
Selectperson Peter Rushton, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 
Lakes and Natural Resources Bylaws update 

Motion to approve the updated bylaws of the Lakes and Natural Resources committee by Vice 
Chair Carol Johnson, seconded by Selectperson Peter Rushton, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Monthly Committee Presentation to the Board 

Report from Recreation Director Dan MacGlashing, along with Parks & Recreation Board chair Jamie 
Dionne. 
Updates on programming, plans for future events and additional programming; recap of summer camp 
and more. 

 
Appointments/Resignations 

Motion to accept, with regret, the resignation of Regina Coppens from the Communications 
Committee and to send a certificate of appreciation by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by 
Selectperson Daniel Newman, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 

Workplace Bullying Prevention Policy  

The Board requested the current harassment policy and proposed workplace bullying prevention policy 
be combined into one Harassment and Bullying Policy to be presented and voted upon at the October 
17 Selectboard meeting. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 

The Board was asked to consider a request to expend the balance estimated at $80.00 from the Town 
Office Beautification special fund and to close that account. 
 
Motion by Vice Chair Carol Johnson to close the town office beautification fund and to use the 
funds to purchase a tree or plants for beautification at the town office, seconded by Chair 
Barbara Allen, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Facilities Maintenance Director Cory Alexander gave an update on the Dalton properties. A general list 
of what needs to be done to make the building habitable include: 
Mold remediation $21-$30,000, insulation $5,000+, bathroom remodel (due to mold remediation), sump 
pump, furnace, oil tank, fix cabinets, attic ladder, living room window, floor in porch, leaks in basement, 
driveway, drainage and beautification around building. 
 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to winterize the 8 Dalton property and to add a warrant article for 
the March Annual Town Meeting asking voters to stop renting both 8 and 10 Dalton and to 
demolish both properties, seconded by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 

WARRANTS  

Payroll warrant 111 $23,489.66 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to approve warrant 111 in the amount of $23,489.66, seconded by 
Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 
 



BMV Warrant 112 $5,545.25 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to approve warrant 112 in the amount of $5,545.25, seconded by 
Selectperson Peter Rushton, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 
AP Warrant 113 $671,379.93 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to approve warrant 113 in the amount of $671,379.93, seconded 
by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Payroll Warrant 114 $22,632.94 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to approve warrant 114 in the amount of $22,632.94, seconded by 
Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 
BMV, State Payables Warrant 115 $7,733.88 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen to approve warrant 115 in the amount of $7,733.88, seconded by 
Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 

TOWN MANAGER REPORT 

Much of the past two weeks have been dedicated to meeting with department heads for the 2024 
budget season. We have been researching anticipated contract price increases, insurance increases 
and narrowing down items we believe should be included for 2024. 
 
The fall newsletter will be out early this week and has been posted to the Town’s website for the public.  
We have been working to clean up outdated items on our website and add items of interest for our 
residents and the public. 
 
I met with the Comprehensive Plan Committee and Joel Greenwood of KVCOG to launch the start of 
updating the 2014 plan. This is a big undertaking, and I would like to personally thank the committee for 
their hard work and dedication already on this meaningful project. We have plenty of room for more 
help! Committee members include Chair Anthony Wilson, Dee Cooke, Kimberly Dallas, Pat Donahue. 
Chair of the Selectboard Barbara Allen was also in attendance. The next meeting is scheduled for 
October 25 at 5:30 p.m. All are welcome to attend. 
 
The State has begun more work toward the water project with boring done in late September and then 
outreach to existing homes for confirmation on connecting to the water district once finished. 
The MMA annual convention is coming up October 4 and 5 – Selectpersons Barbara Allen, Carol 
Johnson and Town Clerk Mary Vogel will be attending; Mary and I will be attending advanced general 
assistance training October 20 and I will be attending labor and employment law training on October 
24. 
 
The rabies clinic has been set for October 21, 9-1 at the North Belgrade Community Center. There is 
no cost for residents and a $10 fee for non-residents. More details will be posted once we have them. 
November elections are coming right up, Town Clerk Mary Vogel has been hard at work getting things 
ready for what appears to be a busy voting cycle. 
 
The Dams Committee held an emergency meeting on September 29 to review and discuss a bid for the 
much-needed repair work on the Village Dam. 
 
We said goodbye to Charlene Houle on September 29 with a wonderful gathering of staff, board, and 
community members to wish her well on her retirement. Charlene is a true gem who will be missed but 
we are happy and excited she will be able to enjoy some free time after being in the workforce for so 
many years. 
 
The Recreation Department is hosting the fall Harvest Fest Craft Fair October 7 from 9 a.m. to 2 p.m. 
with a great concert on the Village Green planned 4-5:30 p.m. featuring the Laura Hudson Project. 
There are many events scheduled throughout the day by area businesses and organizations. 



 
On the radar 

• Water Trustee appointments (2 positions open) 
• Comprehensive Plan Committee / Plan updates (KVCOG contracted for assistance) 
• LD 2003 
• Possible Broadband Committee 
• Strategic Planning/Goals for 2023-2024 
• Truck for Facilities 
• CFAS repairs 
• American Rescue Fund expenditures (finalize) 
• Tax Stabilization Reimbursement (LD290) 
• Brown Tail Moth Treatment April 2024 
• Fire Dept. Dry Hydrant Proposals 
• 2024 Budget Season 
• RFP for Assessing (current contract ends 12/31/23) 
• New fire station land/building project 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)A – personnel matter. 

Motion to exit regular session at 8:46 p.m. by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by Selectperson Daniel 
Newman, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion to enter executive session pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)A – personnel matter by Chair Barbara 
Allen, seconded by Selectperson Daniel Newman, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion to exit executive session at 9:17 p.m. by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by Vice Chair Carol 
Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion to enter regular session at 9:18 p.m. by Chair Barbara Allen, seconded by Vice Chair Carol 
Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion by Chair Barbara Allen that for the safety of the Town of Belgrade and its employees, two 
cameras be reinstalled in original positions in the front office and one camera be installed in the front 
foyer, seconded by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 
 
Motion to adjourn at 9:19 p.m. by Vice Chair Carol Johnson, seconded by Selectperson Peter Rushton, 
vote 4-0 with 1 absent. 

 
 
 

 



Memo 
_______________________________ 

Harassment and Bullying Policy 

 
At the request of the Board, the existing harassment policy has been updated to add the 

workplace bullying prevention policy as presented to the Board at their October 3, 2023 meeting 
for review, approval and implementation. 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 1 of 6 
 

TOWN OF BELGRADE  
ANTI HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION  

and WORKPLACE BULLYING PREVENTION POLICY 
 
Section 1. Anti-Harassment and Discrimination 
 
Anti-Harassment and Discrimination Statement of Policy 
 

It is the policy of the Town of Belgrade to prohibit all forms of unlawful 
discrimination and harassment, including sexual harassment.  All employees will 
receive sexual harassment training once annually.  In addition, the Town has 
adopted this policy to ensure that employees always have access to review the 
expectations and their rights as it relates to sexual harassment and 
discrimination in the workplace.  All persons applying for appointment or 
reappointment to any Board or Committee are required to acknowledge that they 
have read and understand this policy.  Finally, this policy will be part of any 
contract given by the Town of Belgrade to any vendor or service provider. 
 

Prohibited Conduct 
 

Any employee who engages in discrimination or harassment based upon race, 
color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, physical or 
mental disability, religion, ancestry, national origin, age, pregnancy status, status 
as a veteran, status as a whistleblower, or any other status protected by law will 
be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.  
Any Town volunteer, vendor or other third-party conducting Town business who 
engages in this conduct may also be subject to adverse action including but not 
limited to termination of contract or removal of volunteer. 
 
Sexual harassment is one form of discrimination that undermines the integrity of 
the employment relationship, is degrading, detrimental to productivity, and illegal.  
Sexual harassment can be defined as the attempt to control, influence, or affect 
the career, salary or job of an individual in exchange for sexual favors or on the 
basis of sex; or the creation of an intimidating, hostile or offensive working 
environment based on unsolicited and unwelcome sexual conduct, either verbal 
or physical, or on the basis of sex.  Unwelcome sexual advances, requests for 
sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitute 
sexual harassment when: 
 

• Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly as a term or 
condition of an individual’s employment; 

 
• Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis 

for employment decisions affecting that individual; or 
 

• Such conduct has the purpose or effect of substantially and unreasonably 
interfering with an individual’s work performance or creates an intimidating, 
hostile or offensive working environment. 

 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 2 of 6 
 

The following type of conduct is considered to be sexual harassment and is not 
permitted: 

 
• Repeated unwanted sexual flirtations, advances or propositions; 

 
• Jokes, profanity, derogatory or demeaning comments about a person or his/her 

appearance, or vulgar remarks directed at a person or members of a specific 
group; 

 
• Any offensive physical contact, including physical assault and unwanted 

touching, hugging, or kissing; 
 

• Displays of degrading, obscene or sexually oriented photographs, posters, 
cartoons or objects; 

 
• Promising or granting preferential treatment to an employee for submitting to 

sexual conduct; or 
 

• Subjecting or threatening an employee with unwelcome sexual attention or 
intentionally making performance of the employee’s job more difficult because of 
his/her sex. 
 

Internal Complaint Procedure 
 

Harassment, discrimination or intimidation of any kind in the workplace, or 
retaliation for reporting any such behavior, whether committed by employees, 
supervisors, volunteers, citizens, vendors, or any third parties, is not sanctioned 
or tolerated.  If you have a complaint of discriminatory treatment, harassment, or 
intimidation based upon race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, 
gender expression, physical or mental disability, religion, ancestry, national 
origin, age, pregnancy status, status as a veteran, status as a whistleblower, or 
any other status protected by law, or if you become aware of actual or potential 
discrimination or harassment, you should bring it to the Town’s attention 
immediately.   
 
There are three ways you can make a complaint or report of harassment or 
discrimination:  1) you may bring it to the attention of your supervisor; 2) you may 
bypass your supervisor and address your concerns directly to the Town 
Manager; or 3) you may report harassment directly to Chair of the Select Board.  
All complaints or reports will be investigated promptly, thoroughly and fairly.  Any 
employee who is determined, after investigation, to have engaged in unlawful 
discrimination or harassment will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, up 
to and including termination.   
 

Protection Against Retaliation for Complaining about Harassment 
 

Under the law, you may not be punished or penalized in any way for reporting, 
complaining about, or filing a claim concerning unlawful harassment or 
discrimination, or for cooperating with or testifying in any proceeding brought by 
anyone else.  If you feel that you have been retaliated against for opposing or 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 3 of 6 
 

reporting what you reasonably believe to be unlawful harassment, please follow 
the same Internal Complaint Procedure set forth above.  The Town will not 
tolerate any act of unlawful retaliation against employees who have reported, 
complained about, or filed a complaint of unlawful harassment. 

 
 
Section 2. Workplace Bullying Prevention 
 
 
I.   POLICY: 

The Town of Belgrade is committed to promoting and maintaining a healthy 
working environment where every individual is treated with civility and respect.  
Bullying behavior will not be tolerated in any division of the Town. The Town of 
Belgrade strongly encourages anyone who is a victim of bullying behavior, or 
anyone who observes such behavior, to promptly report it to any supervisor or to 
the Town Manager directly should that employee not feel safe enough to 
approach a supervisor. Retaliation against individuals who report bullying also is 
prohibited.  Because bullying seriously undermines the integrity of the workplace 
and adversely affects employee morale, it is unacceptable and will not be 
tolerated.  In addition, it is considered grounds for disciplinary action, up to and 
including discharge. 

 
II. PURPOSE: 

To establish department policy regarding allegations of Bullying and the proper 
reporting procedures for violation of this policy.  This policy applies to all 
personnel. 

 
III. POLICY STATEMENT: 

A. PROHIBITED CONDUCT 
Bullying is a pattern of repeated behavior that a reasonable person would find 
hostile, offensive, and unrelated to the legitimate interests of the Town of 
Belgrade.  Bullying behavior may take many forms including physical, verbal, or 
written acts or behaviors.   Workplace bullying often involves an abuse or misuse 
of power.  A single physical, verbal, or written act or behavior generally will not 
constitute bullying unless especially severe and egregious.  

 
Examples of bullying may include: 

- persistent or egregious use of abusive, insulting, or offensive language directed 
at an employee; 

- spreading misinformation or malicious rumors; 
- behavior or language that frightens, belittles, or degrades, including criticism or       

feedback that is delivered with yelling, screaming, threats, or insults; 
- making repeated inappropriate comments about a person’s appearance, lifestyle, 

family, or culture; 
- regularly teasing or making someone the brunt of pranks or practical jokes; 
- interfering with a person’s personal property or work equipment; 
- circulating inappropriate or embarrassing photos or videos vi e-mail or social 

media; 
- unwarranted physical contact; 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 4 of 6 
 

- or purposefully excluding, isolating, or marginalizing a person from normal work          
activities.    

B. Bullying vs. Supervision 
It is important to distinguish between bullying behavior and appropriate 
workplace supervision.  Reasonable supervisory actions, when carried out in an 
appropriate manner, include; 

- providing performance appraisals; 
- coaching or providing constructive feedback; 
- scheduling ongoing meetings to address performance issues; 
- setting performance goals to help meet Town of Belgrade goals; 
- counseling or disciplining an employee for misconduct; and 
- Investigating alleged misconduct.  

Differences of opinion, interpersonal conflicts, and occasional problems in 
working relations are an inevitable part of working life and do not necessarily 
constitute workplace bullying.  

 
C. Retaliation 

This policy prohibits retaliation (e.g., threats, intimidation, reprisals, and adverse 
actions related to employment) against any person who reports bullying, assists 
someone with a report of bullying, or participates in an investigation or resolution 
of a bullying complaint.  Reports of such retaliation will be addressed under the 
procedures below. 
 

D. Dissemination of this Policy 
As part of the Town of Belgrade commitment to providing a working environment 
free from bullying, this policy will be disseminated to all departments. 
 

IV.   PROCEDURES FOR REPORTING AND RESPONDING TO REPORTS OF BULLYING,    
        COMPLAINT PROCESS: 

A. Reporting 
Employees who believe they are the victims of bullying may file an internal 
complaint by contacting any of the following individuals:  
1. Immediate supervisor or any supervisor/manager in the chain of 

command. 
2. Town Manager 
3. Board of Selectpersons 

 
B. Resolution Options 

Although every attempt will be made to resolve complaints at the earliest 
possible level, if an investigation is warranted, it will be conducted promptly and 
with as much confidentiality as possible, respecting the rights of all parties 
involved.  All employees shall cooperate in any agency investigation.  The Town 
of Belgrade will respond to reports of bullying brought anonymously or by third 
parties not directly involved in the complaint.  However, the response to such 
reports may be limited if the reported allegations cannot be verified by 
independent facts.   
 
 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 5 of 6 
 

C. Facilitated Early Resolution 
The Goal of early resolution is to resolve concerns at the earliest stage possible 
with the cooperation of all of the parties involved. The Town of Belgrade 
encourages early resolution and will assist the parties in reaching a mutually 
agreeable resolution when the parties wish to resolve the situation 
collaboratively. 
 
Early resolution may include a review of the facts, but typically does not include a 
formal investigation.  Means for early resolution will be flexible and encompass a 
full range of possible appropriate outcomes. 
 
Options for early resolution may include: 

- Obtaining an agreement between the parties; 
- Physically separating the parties; 
- Changing reporting lines; 
- Negotiating an agreement for personnel action; 
- Conducting targeted training programs; and/or 
- Following up with the parties after a period of time to assure that the resolution 

has been implemented effectively. 

While the Town of Belgrade encourages early resolution, the Town of Belgrade 
does not require that parties participate in early resolution prior to the Town of 
Belgrade’s decision to initiate a formal investigation.  In some cases, 
Administration may determine that early resolution is inappropriate and may 
initiate a formal investigation instead.  

 
D. Formal investigation  

In response to reports of bullying where early resolution is unsuccessful or 
inappropriate, the complainant may request a formal investigation.  The Town 
Manager may initiate a formal internal affairs investigation after a preliminary 
review of the facts even in cases where the complainant has not requested one. 

 
Formal investigation of reports of bullying will incorporate the following 
procedures; 

- The respondent will be advised of the pending investigation and advised of the 
nature of the alleged conduct, which is the subject matter of the investigation.  
Unless circumstances require anonymity, the complainant shall be identified. All 
staff will have the opportunity to have their own legal representation present 
during any interview. 

- At any time during the investigation, the investigator may recommend that the 
Town of Belgrade provide interim protections or remedies for the complainant or 
witnesses.  These protections or remedies may include separating the parties, 
placing limitations on contact between the parties, or making alternative work 
arrangements.   Failure to comply with the terms of interim protections may be 
considered a separate violation of this policy.  

- The investigator will make every effort to complete the investigation as quickly as 
possible.   

- Following the completion of the investigation, the investigator will prepare a 
written report that, at a minimum, includes a statement of the allegations and 



Town of Belgrade Anti-Harassment, Discrimination, Bullying Prevention Policy October 2023  Page 6 of 6 
 

issues, the positions of the parties, a summary of the evidence, findings of fact, 
and a determination by the investigator as to whether the conduct at issue 
violated this policy.  The Investigator will submit the report to the Town Manager 
who will determine the actions necessary to resolve the complaint.  

- The complainant and the respondent will be informed when the investigation is 
completed and whether the complaint was substantiated.  Actions taken to 
resolve the complaint, if any, that are directly related to the complainant, such as 
an order that the respondent not contact the complainant will be shared with the 
complainant.  The complainant may be notified generally that the matter has 
been referred for disciplinary action but will not be informed of the details of the 
recommended disciplinary action without the respondent’s consent.  

E. Remedies 
Findings of violations of this policy may be considered in determining remedies 
for individuals harmed by the bullying and will be referred to the appropriate 
manager.  Violations may include engaging in bullying, retaliating against a 
complainant reporting bullying, or violating interim protections.   Investigative 
reports made pursuant to this policy may be used as evidence in subsequent 
complaint or grievance resolution processes or disciplinary proceedings.  

 
V. GLOSSARY 
Complainant: An individual who alleges they have been subjected to bullying. 
Reasonable Person test: The basis for determining whether the conduct at issue rises to the 
level of bullying is whether a reasonable person in the same or similar circumstances would find 
the conduct hostile, offensive, and unrelated to the Town of Belgrade daily business.  Though 
the intention of the person responsible for the conduct may be considered, it is not 
determinative. 
Respondent: An individual alleged to have violated this policy. 
Workplace: For purposes of this policy, any location owned by the Town of Belgrade, or any 
location where a Town employee is acting in the course and scope of employment.  This 
includes, but is not limited to buildings, grounds, surrounding perimeters including parking lots.  
It also includes vehicles when those vehicles are used in the performance of Town of Belgrade 
duties. 
                                                        
DISCLAIMER 
This policy should not be construed as a creation of a higher legal standard of safety or care in an evidentiary sense 
with respect to third party claims.  Violations of this policy will only form the basis for administrative sanctions by the 
Town of Belgrade. 
 
Adopted by the Town of Belgrade Board of Selectpersons at a regularly scheduled meeting of 
the board on October 17, 2023. 
 
____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Barbara Allen, Chair     Carol Johnson, Vice Chair 
 
____________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Melanie Jewell, Selectperson    Daniel Newman, Selectperson 
 
 
____________________________________  
Peter Rushton, Selectperson      



Memo 
_______________________________ 

Security Camera Policy 

 
Policies mandate, specify, or prohibit conduct to enhance the town’s mission, ensure 

coordinated compliance with applicable laws and regulations, promote operational efficiency, 
and/or reduce organizational risk. 

In an on-going effort to review current policies for updates or gaps, the Security Camera 
Policy is presented for the Board’s review, consideration, and implementation.  

 



 

Page 1 of 5 

 

 

Town of Belgrade Security Surveillance Camera Policy  
 
  
1. Policy  

The Town of Belgrade employs the use of security cameras in support of its security and crime prevention efforts. 
Security cameras are utilized to promote public safety and protect personal and town property. The Town of 
Belgrade respects the right to privacy of the entire community and the need for employees and public to feel safe 
and secure. This policy has been developed by the Board of Selectpersons to help standardize and authorize 
security cameras on town property and to ensure that such cameras are used judiciously. Authority for and use of 
police procedures will not be compromised by this policy.  

1.1 Camera Use  
This policy applies to all Town of Belgrade personnel related to their use of town owned and authorized security 
cameras, including, but not limited to, their monitoring and recording systems. Security cameras are to be installed 
in situations and places where the security of either property or persons should be enhanced. Cameras will be 
limited to uses that do not infringe on the reasonable expectation of privacy as defined by law. Cameras may be 
placed town-wide, either inside or outside of buildings.  

Camera intent and function fall into two main categories:  

1.1.1 Property Protection: Where the primary intent is to monitor property and capture imaged media, in 
case of theft or damage, to be stored on a remote device for possible later use, including but not limited to 
identifying those responsible.  

Examples:  
• offices where currency is handled, 
• an unstaffed office,  
• an unstaffed meeting room, hallway or parking lot.  

 
1.1.2 Personal Safety: Where the primary intent is to capture imaged media, in case of an incident, to be 
stored on a remote device for possible later use.  

Examples:  
• a public walkway, or  
• a parking lot.  

 
Town authorized security cameras are not monitored continuously under normal operating conditions, but may be 
monitored for legitimate safety and security purposes that include the following:  

• high risk areas.  
• restricted access areas/locations.  
• in response to an alarm.  
• for special events, and/or specific investigations upon authorization from the Town Manager and/or his/her 

designee(s).  
 
Requests to add security cameras shall be made to the Town Manager and/or Board of Selectpersons who will 
approve, deny or amend the request(s). (See Appendix A, Request for Security Surveillance Equipment Form) 



 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 
1.2 Limits of Use  
 
1. Information obtained from the cameras shall be used exclusively for law and/or policy enforcement purposes 
including, where appropriate, employee discipline processes.  

2. All camera installations and uses are subject to federal and state laws.  

3. Departments requesting security cameras shall follow the procedures outlined in this policy. Breaches of this 
policy may result in disciplinary action.  

4. Cameras may be installed in restricted-access sites such as a departmental workspaces and meeting rooms, but 
may not be located in places where a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy.  

5. Every effort shall be made in camera placement to protect personal privacy.  
 
6. Unless a camera is being used for a specific criminal surveillance, as in exceptional circumstances, the following 
places are not to be monitored by security cameras:  

a. bathrooms,  
b. private Office 
c. other areas with a reasonable expectation of privacy 
 

7. The installation of "dummy" cameras that do not operate on a regular basis are prohibited.  

8. All imaged media camera installations are to be visible unless under exceptional circumstances and approved by 
law enforcement.  
 
9. Areas where imaged media cameras are in use are to be clearly identified with signs stating, "security camera in 
use." These signs are to be at the main entrances to buildings and in the other areas where cameras are located. 
Signs are to include a contact number that interested persons can call to receive information regarding the 
cameras. It is the responsibility of the requesting department to install appropriate signage in the building I area a 
security camera is located.  

a. Exceptional circumstances include the use of security cameras by the Town of Belgrade or law 
enforcement for covert surveillance purposes. Covert surveillance is governed by the U.S. Constitution and 
Maine State law. No further announcement need be made prior to the actual placement of imaged media 
equipment for these purposes.  
b. Requests for access by non-town employees or organizations to recorded media from cameras are to be 
made to the Town Manager or his/her designee(s).  
c. The Town Manager or his/her designee(s) will determine if the request is permitted under State of Maine 
Freedom of Information laws and/or town policy /practice. If necessary, the Town Manager is to consult 
with the town’s legal counsel.  

10. Any recorded media is to be stored on site and access limited to those authorized by the Town Manager or 
his/her designee(s).  

11. Recorded media is to be retained for a period of at least one week and no longer than 28 days unless it is part 
of an ongoing investigation or presentation. Information that directly affects an investigation will be kept for a period 
determined by the investigating agency.  

12. Personnel are prohibited from using or disseminating information acquired from town authorized security 
cameras except for official purposes and/or pursuant to court order. All information and/or observations made in the 
use of town authorized security cameras are considered confidential and can only be used for official town and/or 
law enforcement business upon the approval of the Town Manager, or his/her designee(s).  



 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

13. Any cassette or disk storage drive is to be erased or reformatted prior to disposal. Minimum storage time: 28 
days or as needed for ongoing investigation I prosecution as determined by the Town Manager or his/her 
designee(s).  

14. All recording or monitoring of activities of individuals or groups by town owned and authorized security cameras 
will be conducted in a manner consistent with town policies, state and federal laws, not based on race, color, 
religion, sex, sexual orientation, including transgender status and gender expression, national origin, citizenship 
status, age, disability, genetic information or veteran status. All recording or monitoring will be conducted in a 
professional, ethical, and legal manner.  

15. All personnel with access to town authorized security cameras will be trained in the effective, legal, and ethical 
use of monitoring equipment, and expectations related to confidentiality.  

16. The Town Manager and Facilities Director will maintain a list of the locations of all town-authorized security 
cameras that are used for the recording or monitoring of public areas.  
 
 
 
2. Rules and Regulations 

The Town of Belgrade hereby adopts these rules and regulations as part of this policy: 

A. Intentional or knowing conduct. No person(s), other than an authorized contractor or employee in the 
performance of town authorized installation, monitoring, repair, operation or replacement activity shall 
intentionally or knowingly remove, damage, disable, obscure, tamper with, alter the direction of, or in any 
way disrupt, block or impair the normal operation or functionality of: 

a. Any surveillance camera, security, safety or performance monitoring, recording, communication or alarm 
device, or related equipment, including but not limited to autonomous aerial, land or water based devices; 

b. Any fire, smoke or other alarm or alarm system or related equipment; 

c. Any fire extinguisher or fire suppression device or related equipment; 

d. Any security, security lighting, or related equipment; 

e. Any lock or other entrance or exit control or monitoring device, or attempt to do or assist in doing any of 
 above without prior written authorization from the Town Manager. 
 

B. Accidental or witnessed conduct reporting.  Any person who by accident does any of the above 
mentioned prohibited acts or who witnesses any such accidental or prohibited intentional act shall 
immediately report that fact to the Town Manager and/or Board of Selectpersons. 

C. Penalties.  Any person violating any provision of this policy shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by 
the monetary fines and jail penalties provided by law. 

 

 

 



 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

2. Town of Belgrade Approval  

The Town of Belgrade is committed to providing a safe and supportive community. Security cameras are utilized 
to promote public safety and protect personal and town property. This policy has been reviewed and approved by 
the Town of Belgrade Board of Selectpersons: 
 
 
__________________________________ __________________________________ 
 
 
 
__________________________________ __________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ Date: ______________________________ 



 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

Appendix A Request for Security Surveillance Equipment Form 

Request for Security Surveillance Camera 

This form must be completed and submitted electronically by the department head to the Town Manager of the 
Town of Belgrade prior to ordering and installation/placement of any surveillance device, in accordance with the 
Town of Belgrade Security Surveillance Camera Policy.  

Requestor:________________________________________ Date:_________________ 
 
Department: ____________________________________ Dept. Mgr.:____________ 
 
Number of Cameras/Equipment Requested: _____________  
 
Camera/Equipment location(s) i.e., building, floor, room or specific area: 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Purpose: 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_____ I have read the current Town of Belgrade Security Surveillance Camera Policy 
 
For multiple locations, please attach an explanation sheet. 
 
Town of Belgrade Approval 
 
_____ Approved 
 
_____ Denied 
 
Comments / reason for denial: 
 
 
 
 
 
Town Designee Signature: ______________________________  Date:_________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Memo 
_______________________________ 

McGrath Pond Road 

 
The Town has been asked to review the existing speed limit on the McGrath Pond Road 

for a potential reduction.  

According to Maine DOT, the following information is provided for your consideration of 
how to proceed with this request: 

 

The existing speed limit on McGrath Pond Road is described as follows: 

STARTING AT THE JUNCTION OF ROUTE 8 AND MCGRATH POND ROAD IN BELGRADE (HIGHWAY NODE 27425) 
AND EXTENDING EASTERLY AND NORTHERLY TO THE BELGRADE/OAKLAND TOWN LINE (HIGHWAY NODE 
25479),A TOTAL DISTANCE OF 1.98 MILES. 

If the residents on the road wish to have a speed zone review under taken  they would first bring 
the issue to the town.  The matter should be discussed in a public forum (typically a Select Board 
Meeting).  If the town agrees and wishes they can then send a written request the Region Traffic 
Engineer, requesting a speed zone review.  The traffic engineer would then undertake an 
engineering study to determine the appropriate speed limit on the road.  The engineer would look 
at a number of factors, such as the offset to hazards along the road, development along the road 
and crash history over the last 3 years. 

The crash history is one factor that I could quickly and easily look up.  There have only been 2 
reported crashes in the last 3 years on this road.  One run off the road and one deer.  Neither 
crash had any injuries. 

Once the engineering study was completed a recommendation would be submitted to the 
Commissioner of this Department and the Head of the Maine State Police for approval. 

Most studies seen to show no change is warranted, with a few showing the speed limit should be 
reduce and a few showing it should be increased. 

Thanks 

David P. Allen, PE  
Mid Coast Region 2 Engineer  
Maine Department of Transportation  
66 Industrial Drive  
98 State House Station  
Augusta, ME 04333-0098  
Phone (207) 624-8200 

 

 





Memo 
_______________________________ 

American Rescue Funds 

 
The town received $332,777 in funding and has expended $162,250 with a remaining 

balance of approximately $170,527. 

The town has received the following department or organizational requests for funding 
from the remaining balance: 

 

• Fire/Rescue Department New fire station engineering costs 

     Installation of three dry hydrants 

• Center for All Seasons Video meeting/streaming equipment 

     ADA access to lake 

     Pickleball court 

• Facilities Maintenance Vehicle 

• Belgrade Lakes Association Parking lot 

 

 



$332,777

Project Estimate

APPROVED 7 Lakes Alliance (30,000.00)$        

APPROVED Map Digitization (46,250.00)$        

APPROVED Turf Doctor (10,000.00)$        

APPROVED Comprehensive Plan (28,000.00)$        

APPROVED Dam Remediation (48,000.00)$        

Public Lake Access

New Fire Station (30,000.00)$        

Video Meeting Equipment for CFAS (6,527.00)$          

Wi-Fi hotspots

3 Dry Hydrants
(35,000.00)$        

ADA Access CFAS to Lake
(18,000.00)$        

Facilities Vehicle
(50,000.00)$        

Pickleball Court at CFAS (15,500.00)$        

Parking Lot (15,500.00)$        

$0
Request $50,000

CAI

Grub control cemeteries, town office

Update - KVCOG

Could use $30,000 from reserve plus ARPA funding.

Request $80,000

Installing Wi-Fi hotspots around town. Should set up a broadband 

committee? To explore town-wide coverage.

Touch up the grade and pave a walkway measuring 500'x6' with 2"of 

surface pavement.

Town of Belgrade

PROPOSED USE OF ARPA FUNDS

Purchasing technology to enhance online participation in public 

meetings.

North Belgrade.

Engineering only.

Details

$26,000 for erosion control on town properties into Long and Great 

ponds, 10% contingency.



Lorna, 
 
This is what I got for the video capabilities for the center. It would actually be kind of neat! 
There would be a pc in the Social room that would hook up to a tv mounted to the wall in there. 
This would connect to a camera in the social room and one in the gym. You would have 
someone connect the camera in the gym during a meeting, it would show up on the social room 
tv, and would be exactly what the public was seeing on the feed.  
 
Paul stated that the space would not work for a meeting type like zoom, but we could stream 
the meetings. 
 
It seems to be the best possible solution for what we are looking for.  
 
Let me know what you think, 
 
Daniel MacGlashing 
Recreation Director 
Town Of Belgrade 
207-495-3481 
 



Town of Belgrade
990 Augusta Road 
Belgrade, ME, United States 04917

Estimate # 1049
Estimate Date 03-15-2023

Total $4,856.97

8 Main street
Norridgewock, ME 04957
www.itsIT4ME.com
207-314-2051

Subtotal $4,723.56
Tax $133.41

Estimate Total $4,856.97

Item Description Unit Cost Quantity Line Total

HP Desktop
Computer

Intel Quad I7 up to 3.8GHz, 16GB Memory, 256G SSD +
3TB, GeForce GTX 1660 Super GDDR6 6G, RGB
Keyboard & Mouse, WiFi & Bluetooth 5.0, Win 10 Pro
(Renewed)

$499.99 1.0 $499.99

Monitor Sceptre 24" Professional Thin 75Hz 1080p LED Monitor
2x HDMI VGA Build-in Speakers, Machine Black.

$104.58 1.0 $104.58

Microphone Blue Yeti USB Microphone for Streaming, Podcasting,
Studio and Computer Condenser Mic with Blue VO!CE
effects, 4 Pickup Patterns, Plug and Play.

$89.99 2.0 $179.98

Microphone wall
mount

Wall mount for Gym install microphone $24.90 1.0 $24.90

Prisual PTZ Camera 20X-SDI 1080P Live Streaming Camera Runs Wirecast
OBS vMix Livestream Studio HDMI 3G-SDI IP POE
Supports (20X Zoom and Wall Mount)

$598.65 1.0 $598.65

Prisual PTZ Camera 3G-SDI,HDMI and IP Streaming Outputs,30X SDI
Broadcast and Conference Full HD PTZ Camera for Live
Streaming(30X Zoom and Wall Mount)

$675.00 1.0 $675.00

Hsility PTZ Controller Camera Controller POE Network 4D Joystick Decoding
Keyboard with 5 Inch LCD Screen

$285.89 1.0 $285.89

TP-Link switch 5 Port Gigabit PoE Switch | 4 PoE+ Ports @65W | Desktop
| Plug & Play | Sturdy Metal w/ Shielded Ports | Fanless |
Limited Lifetime Protection | QoS & IGMP Snooping

$39.99 1.0 $39.99

TV 50" TV for conference room for displaying meetings $289.99 1.0 $289.99

Tv wall mount TV Wall Mount for Most 26-55 Inch TVs, Full Motion TV
Mount with Perfect Center Design, Articulating Mount Max
VESA 400x400mm up to 77 LBS, Wall Mount TV Bracket
MD2413-MX

$24.59 1.0 $24.59

Labor Labor $100.00 20.0 $2,000.00

THIS IS AN ESTIMATE
Disclaimer

*This is an estimate and serves as the best guess with the information
provided to IT4ME regarding services requested at the time of the estimate.



























Estimate
Date

10/11/2023

Estimate #

4867

Name / Address

Town of Belgrade
990 Augusta Road
Belgrade, ME

Ship To

Community Center For All Seasons
1 Center Dr
Belgrade, ME

Fine Line Paving & Grading LLC

629 Main Street
Madison ME 04950

P.O. No.

Community Center Walkway

Phone #

207-696-8805

Fax #

207-696-8810

E-mail

finelinebilling@yahoo.com

Total
Thank you for the opportunity to quote this project.

Jim Peters
Fine Line Paving

Description Qty Rate Total

ADA Walkway from the building to the lake- 2024 Budget Number
Fine Line Paving would supply the labor, equipment, materials, and trucking to
touch up the fine grade and pave the walkway, which measures approx 500' x 6', and
pave the walkway with 2" of surface pavement.

1 12,000.00 12,000.00

$12,000.00



Most loose materials, including gravel 
will not meet these requirements 
unless properly treated to provide 
sufficient surface integrity and 
resilience.  Binders, consolidants, 
compaction, and grid forms may 
enable some of these materials to 
perform satisfactorily but require 
repeated maintenance.   

 

 

Floor and Ground Surfaces  
 

This guide explains requirements in the ADA Standards for floor and 
ground surfaces.  The specifications for floor and ground surfaces address surface 
characteristics, carpeting, openings, and changes in level.  They apply to: 
 

 interior and exterior accessible routes, including walking surfaces, ramps, 
elevators, and lifts 

 stairways that are part of a means of egress 

 required clearances, including clear floor space, wheelchair seating spaces, 
turning space, and door maneuvering clearances  

 accessible parking spaces, access aisles, and accessible passenger loading 
zones. 

 

Firmness, Stability, and Slip Resistance [§302.1] 

Accessible floor and ground surfaces must be stable, firm, and slip resistant.  Stable 
surfaces resist movement, while firm surfaces resist deformation by applied forces.  
Accessible surfaces remain unchanged by external forces, objects, or materials. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Hardened materials such as 
concrete, asphalt, tile, and wood are 
sufficiently firm and stable for 
accessibility.   

 

U . S .  AC C E S S  B O A R D  T E C H N I C A L  G U I D E  



 

Chapter 3: Building Blocks Floor and Ground Surfaces 

 
 

2 
 

Cobblestones and other rough surfaces make 
wheelchair travel difficult and uncomfortable.   

 

Slip Resistance 

Accessible surfaces must be slip resistant to minimize hazards to people with 
disabilities, especially those who are ambulatory or semi-ambulatory or who use canes, 
crutches, and other walking aids.  However, the standards do not specify a minimum 
level of slip resistance (coefficient of friction) because a consensus method for rating 
slip resistance remains elusive.  While different measurement devices and protocols 
have been developed over the years for use in the laboratory or the field, a widely 
accepted method has not emerged.  Since rating systems are unique to the test 
method, specific levels of slip resistance can only be meaningfully specified according 
to a particular measurement protocol.  Some flooring products are labeled with a slip 
resistance rating based on a laboratory test procedure.  

Compliance with the standards requires specifying surface materials, 
textures, or finishes that prevent or minimize slipperiness under the 
conditions likely to be found on the surface.  Standard practices for 
minimizing floor or ground slipperiness will likely satisfy compliance 
with the standards as slip resistance is important not just for 
accessibility but for general safety as well.  Applications and finishes 
used to increase a surface material’s slip resistance may require 
continued maintenance or re-application.   

 

Surface Smoothness  

The standards limit changes in level 
and openings in floor and ground 
surfaces, but they do not further 
address overall surface smoothness.  
Rough surfaces composed of 
cobblestones, Belgian blocks, and 
similar materials can be difficult and 
sometimes painful to negotiate with 
wheeled mobility aids due to the 
vibrations they cause.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Recommendation:  Avoid materials or construction methods that create 
bumpy and uneven surfaces in areas and along routes required to be 
accessible.   



 

Chapter 3: Building Blocks Floor and Ground Surfaces 

 
 

3 
 

Carpet [§302.2]  

Carpet that is thick, cushiony, or loose impairs accessibility, particularly wheelchair 
maneuvering.  The standards specify the maximum pile height (1/2” measured to the 
backing, cushion, or pad) and texture (level or textured loop, level cut pile, or level 
cut/uncut pile) and require firm backing.  Cushions or pads also must be firm or can be 
avoided to ensure greater firmness.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Exposed edges must have trim on the entire length of the exposed edge and be 
fastened to the floor to prevent curling.  Trim must meet specifications for changes in 
level, including requirements for beveled edges when the height exceeds ¼ inch.  The 
maximum height is ½ inch.   
 

 
Carpet Edge Treatment      Carpet to Tile Transition 

 
  1/2” max height, 1:2 max beveled edge              Changes in level 1/4” max high permitted      
           vertical edge   
 

 

Carpeting must be securely 
attached so that it does not shift 
or buckle against wheeled 
traffic. Cushions or pads, if 
used, also must be properly 
secured to resist movement.  
Rolling or buckling occurs when 
carpet is not properly secured 
and makes wheelchair 
maneuvering very difficult.    

 



 

Chapter 3: Building Blocks Floor and Ground Surfaces 

 
 

4 
 

Openings [§302.3] 
 
Openings in ground and floor surfaces, such as grates, are limited in width to prevent 
passage of a ½” diameter sphere.  Wheelchair casters can get wedged into wider 
openings.   
 

Surface Opening (Cross Section) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Elongated openings, like those 
of most grates, must be oriented 
so that the long dimension is 
perpendicular to the dominant 
travel direction.  In locations 
where there is no dominant flow 
pattern, openings must be 
limited to ½” in both dimensions.  
Where an accessible route is 
available to bypass openings 
completely, they can be oriented 
in any direction. 

 

1/2” max 

max min  

no max depth  



 

Chapter 3: Building Blocks Floor and Ground Surfaces 

 
 

5 
 

Changes in Level [§303] 
 
Changes in level can be up to ¼” without treatment or ½” if beveled with a slope no 
steeper than 1:2.  Changes in level above a ½” must be treated as a ramp or curb ramp 
(or a walkway if a slope no steeper than 1:20 can be achieved).  These specifications 
apply to all portions of accessible routes, including thresholds and carpet trim.  

 
  1/4” Max Change in Level              1/2” Max Change in Level 

 

 
 

Common Questions 
 
 
Must accessible surfaces be paved? 
 

Concrete, asphalt, and other paved surfaces are more reliably compliant, but other 
materials, such as wood, and construction methods can be used to provide firm and 
stable surfaces.  Loose material like gravel will not perform adequately unless it is 
sufficiently stabilized by binders, compaction, or other treatments and will likely require 
repeated maintenance.    
 
What is the minimum level of slip resistance required by the standards? 
 
The standards require ground and floor surfaces to be slip resistant, but they do not 
specify a minimum level of slip resistance or coefficient of friction.  This value varies 
according to the measurement method and protocols used.  Some products are labeled 
with a rated level, but in the absence of a consensus test procedure, the standards do 
not set a minimum value.  Standard methods to prevent or minimize slipperiness in the 
specification of floor materials, textures, applications, and finishes may be sufficient for 
compliance with the standards.   

1/4” max 
1/2” max  

           2 

1 

  



 

Chapter 3: Building Blocks Floor and Ground Surfaces 

 
 

6 
 

 
Is there a minimum distance between changes in level? 
 
The standards do not require a minimum horizontal separation between changes in 
level of a ½” or less. Such level changes may need to be in close proximity, such as at 
raised thresholds (otherwise a minimum 48” separation will provide enough wheelchair 
space so that only one vertical change is negotiated at a time).  Ramps and curb ramps, 
which must be used to span vertical changes greater than ½”, must have level landings 
and clearances at the tops and bottoms of each run to provide adequate separation and 
resting intervals between sloping surfaces.   

Elongated surface openings must be perpendicular to the dominant direction of travel, 
but what if there is no dominant direction of travel? 

When there is no dominant direction of cross traffic, openings must be limited to ½” in 
both dimensions.   Where space allows accessible routes to completely bypass the area 
with openings, elongated openings can be oriented in either direction. 

 
 

 

    U  N  I  T  E  D    S  T  A  T  E  S    A  C  C  E  S  S    B  O  A  R  D     
      A d v a n c i n g  F u l l  A c c e s s  a n d  I n c l u s i o n  f o r  A l l   
  1331 F Street, NW  ▪   Suite 1000  ▪  Washington, DC   20004-1111 

  (202) 272-0080 (v)  ▪  (202) 272-0082 (TTY)  ▪   www.access-board.gov 
 

February 2014 
 













August 9, 2023 

Subject: Funding Proposal for Pickleball and Basketball Court Complex 

Dear Belgrade Board of Selectpersons, 

We are wri�ng to request funding for the construc�on of a versa�le court complex that includes both 
pickleball and basketball courts within our community. The Belgrade Board of Parks and Recrea�on is 
commited to providing opportuni�es for physical fitness, public health, recrea�on, and social interac�on 
for residents of all ages. We believe that the establishment of this dual-purpose facility will greatly 
enhance the health and well-being of our community members. 

Pickleball has experienced remarkable popularity and growth over the past few decades, transforming 
from a rela�vely obscure backyard game to a mainstream sport played by millions of people worldwide. 
The rise of pickleball can be atributed to several key factors: 

1.  Accessibility: Pickleball is known for being easy to learn and play, making it accessible to people 
of all ages and skill levels. The rules are simple, and beginners can quickly grasp the basics, 
leading to immediate enjoyment. 

2.  Mul�genera�onal Appeal: Pickleball bridges genera�onal gaps, appealing to both younger and 
older players. This inclusivity has contributed to its popularity among families and communi�es. 

3.  Social Nature: The game's doubles format encourages social interac�on, making pickleball a 
social and community-building ac�vity. It's common to see players of various backgrounds coming 
together to enjoy the game. 

4.  Health Benefits: With an emphasis on physical ac�vity, hand-eye coordina�on, and strategy, 
pickleball offers numerous health benefits. Its low-impact nature also makes it atrac�ve to those 
seeking exercise with reduced risk of injury. 

5.  Aging Popula�on: As the popula�on ages, there's a growing interest in low-impact ac�vi�es that 
promote fitness and well-being. Pickleball has filled this niche, par�cularly among older adults 
looking for a fun way to stay ac�ve. 

6.  Availability of Facili�es: Many communi�es, parks, and recrea�onal centers have responded to 
the demand for pickleball by construc�ng dedicated courts. This increased availability of facili�es 
has encouraged more people to try the sport. 

7.  Tournaments and Events: The emergence of pickleball tournaments and events has provided a 
pla�orm for compe��ve players to showcase their skills. These events atract players from 
different regions, fostering a sense of community and camaraderie. 

8.  Grassroots Efforts: Enthusias�c players and advocates have played a significant role in spreading 
the word about pickleball. Their passion has led to grassroots ini�a�ves that promote the sport 
and encourage new players to get involved. 

Belgrade has not been immune to this trend and in the past year, there has been a growing number of 
residents that have started playing pickleball. It is currently being played in makeshi� temporary areas at 
the Belgrade Central School during the summer months and the Center For All Seasons during other 



seasons. Just this past week, there were 46 people that played pickleball on the courts at the Belgrade 
Central School!  The sport's popularity shows no signs of slowing down, with ongoing efforts to further 
develop facili�es, organize tournaments, and promote the sport to new audiences. With its inclusive and 
accessible nature, pickleball is likely to con�nue expanding its reach and cap�va�ng players of all ages 
around the world. 

Project Summary: 

We are seeking funding to develop a state-of-the-art court complex at the Center For All Seasons. This 
project aims to: 

1. Promote Physical Fitness: The proposed complex will offer pickleball and basketball courts, 
catering to individuals with varying interests and fitness levels. Both sports encourage physical 
ac�vity, cardiovascular health, and teamwork, contribu�ng to an ac�ve and healthier 
community. 

2. Encourage Social Interac�on: This complex will serve as a gathering place for community 
members, fostering friendships, camaraderie, and a sense of belonging. It will provide a safe and 
inclusive space for people of all ages and backgrounds to come together and enjoy recrea�onal 
ac�vi�es. 

3. Fill Recrea�onal Gaps: The lack of dedicated pickleball and basketball facili�es in our area has 
resulted in limited opportuni�es for residents to engage in these sports. This complex will 
address this gap by offering convenient and accessible facili�es for both sports. 

Project Details: 

The proposed court complex will feature: 

• Three regula�on-size pickleball courts with proper markings and nets. Two permanent and one 
mul�-use w/portable net. 

• One half-size basketball court with appropriate court markings and equipment. 

• High-quality playing surfaces for both sports. 

• Suitable ligh�ng for extended playing hours. 

• Sea�ng, shade, and spectator areas for comfort. 

• Accessible pathways and ameni�es for individuals with disabili�es. 

• Area of courts will be 105’ x 60’ 

• These courts could also be u�lized as an ice rink during the winter months.   



 
Example of proposed pickleball/basketball court design 

 
Proposed site of pickleball/basketball court 



Budget: 

The es�mated budget for the construc�on of the pickleball and basketball court complex is $160,000. 
The budget breakdown is as follows: 

1. Site Prepara�on: $75,000 - $80,000 

2. Court Surface (asphalt): $19,000 

3. Equipment (Nets, Hoops, etc.): $5,000 

4. Fencing/ligh�ng (10 � coated): $45,000 

5. Court Surface (acrylic/sealcoat): $10,000 

6. Miscellaneous (Signage): $1,000 

Funding Request: 

As indicated above, the total es�mated budget for this project is $160,000. We are seeking American 
Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds in the amount of $80,000 to support the construc�on of the pickleball and 
basketball court complex. This contribu�on will play a crucial role in making this facility a reality and 
posi�vely impac�ng the lives of our community members. 

The remaining $80,000 to complete this project will be raised through various fundraising ac�vi�es 
coordinated through the Belgrade Board of Parks and Recrea�on, with support from the Friends of 
Belgrade Pickleball. These two groups have been working together for the past month and recently held 
the first fundraising event on July 29th at the Center For All Seasons. In this first month, there has been a 
total of $4,538.00 raised toward the $80,000 goal. The Board of Parks and Recrea�on and the Friends of 
Belgrade Pickleball plan to meet twice a month to discuss and plan other fundraising ac�vi�es. Current 
ac�vi�es that are in the planning phases are:  

1. Seeking out other grant opportuni�es with organiza�ons such as the Harold Alfond Founda�on, 
public health/wellness ini�a�ves, private donors, and local businesses. 

2. Food booths at local events such as Family Fun Night, Harvest Fest and the Holiday Stroll.  
3. Various raffles 
4. Community Yard Sale 
5. 5K run next Spring 

Benefits to the Town of Belgrade 

1. Physical Health and Well-being: 

• Diverse Fitness Opportuni�es: The presence of both pickleball and basketball facili�es 
caters to a wide range of physical abili�es and preferences, encouraging community 
members to engage in regular physical ac�vity. 

• Cardiovascular Exercise: Both sports promote cardiovascular health, endurance, and 
improved overall fitness levels. 



• Social Accountability: Playing in teams encourages accountability and mo�va�on to stay 
ac�ve, as individuals come together for friendly matches and games. 

2. Social Interac�on and Community Building: 

• Social Hub: The court becomes a gathering place where people of all ages and backgrounds 
can interact, form friendships, and connect with their neighbors. 

• Inclusive Environment: The court accommodates various skill levels and ages, fostering a 
sense of inclusivity and encouraging intergenera�onal interac�ons. 

• Community Events: The court can be the venue for tournaments, leagues, and community 
events, enhancing community cohesion and providing opportuni�es for shared experiences. 

3. Skill Development and Personal Growth: 

• Skill Acquisi�on: Residents have the chance to learn and improve skills in both pickleball and 
basketball, fostering personal growth and self-confidence. 

• Leadership and Teamwork: Organizing games and events requires teamwork and leadership 
skills, providing opportuni�es for individuals to develop these atributes. 

4. Safe Recrea�on Space: 

• Safe Environment: A well-designed court complex ensures a safe space for physical ac�vity, 
reducing the need for community members to travel to distant facili�es. 

• Supervised Ac�vi�es: The court can be a place where local authori�es or community groups 
organize supervised ac�vi�es, ensuring a secure and monitored environment for recrea�on. 

5. Sense of Iden�ty and Ownership: 

• Community Pride: The court becomes a point of community pride, represen�ng a shared 
accomplishment and a posi�ve asset. 

• Ownership: Community members feel a sense of ownership over the court, leading to 
increased engagement in its maintenance and upkeep. 

6. Healthy Lifestyle Promo�on: 

• Encourages Outdoor Ac�vity: The court encourages outdoor play and recrea�on, 
encouraging a healthier and more ac�ve lifestyle. 

• Posi�ve Role Modeling: Ac�ve engagement in sports sets an example for younger 
genera�ons, inspiring them to adopt healthy habits. 

7. Posi�ve Community Image: 

• Atrac�ve Amenity: A pickleball and basketball court complex enhances the visual appeal of 
the community, making it more atrac�ve to poten�al residents and visitors. 

• Community Investment: The court demonstrates that the community is invested in its 
residents' well-being and quality of life. 



8. Economic and Tourism Benefits: 

• Local Economy: Tournaments and events can atract visitors, boos�ng local businesses such 
as hotels, restaurants, and shops. 

• Tourist Atrac�on: A well-maintained court can atract players from neighboring areas, and 
increase the community's visibility. 

In summary, a combined pickleball and basketball court offers numerous benefits that extend beyond 
physical ac�vity. It creates a space for community members to come together, stay ac�ve, build 
rela�onships, and take pride in their shared resources. The court becomes a catalyst for community 
engagement, personal growth, and overall well-being. 

We would greatly appreciate the opportunity to discuss this proposal further and explore how your 
support can help us achieve our vision. We are confident that together we can create a vibrant court 
complex that will enrich our community's quality of life for years to come. 

Thank you for considering our proposal. We look forward to working with the Belgarde Board of 
Selectpersons to make this project a reality. Please feel free to contact me at 207-680-8363 or 
jamie.dionne.bpr@gmail.com to discuss this proposal in more detail. 

Sincerely, 

Belgrade Maine, Board of Parks and Recrea�on 

Jamie Dionne, Chair 

Linda Bacon, Vice Chair 

Susan Bolduc, Member 

Jessica White, Member 

Jason Lindsey, Member 

Daniel MacGlashing, Recrea�on Director 

1 Center Drive, Belgrade, ME  04917 

jamie.dionne.bpr@gmail.com 

207-495-3481 

 

mailto:jamie.dionne.bpr@gmail.com




John M. Burke, PE, CAPP 
Independent Consulting 
Parking, Transit & Downtown Development 

 

PO Box 1177, Marion, MA 02738  413.627.7902  jburke3142@gmail.com 
 

September 22, 2023 
 
TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Friends of Belgrade Lakes Village 
 
FROM:  John Burke, PE, CAPP, Consultant 
 
SUBJECT:  Belgrade Lakes Village Parking Study 
 
This technical memorandum summarizes the results of a study conducted to evaluate the need for 
constructing off-street public parking within the Village of Belgrade Lakes to accommodate peak 
seasonal and special event parking demand. The study included a concept-level evaluation of a privately-
owned parcel for potential acquisition, development, and use as a public parking lot to address any 
documented need.   
 
Background and Problem Statement   
During the busy tourist season, the public parking supply within the village, which primarily consists of 
parallel parking spaces along Main Street (Route 27), is in high demand. Nearly all off-street parking 
within the village is privately owned and dedicated for single-business, residential, or institutional use. At 
peak times, on-street parking can reportedly be difficult to find in close walking distance to a village 
destination, which may result in vehicles being parked in unsafe or unintended locations.           
 

On-street parking demand has increased with the 
opening of the Belgrade Village Green in 2019. The 
beautifully landscaped Village Green with its center 
gazebo, walking paths, and benches is located at the 
corner of Main Street and West Road between the 
popular Sunset Grille at 1214 West Road and busy Hello 
Good Pie Bakery & Cafe at 39 Main Street.  The Village 
Green itself, is a very popular location for residents and 
visitors alike, particularly during a free summer concert 
series held there on Thursday evenings from July 
through mid-September.  Monthly craft fairs from July 

through mid-September also attracts large crowds. At peak times, parking demand in the vicinity of the 
Village Green reportedly overwhelms the supply of nearby on-street parking.       
 
The Friends of Belgrade Lakes Village (FOBLV) requested that a parking study be conducted to evaluate 
the need for additional off-street public parking to accommodate peak seasonal and special event parking 
demand. The study request included a concept-level evaluation of the potential acquisition and conversion 
of the privately-owned Belgrade Lakes Self Storage parcel, located adjacent to the Village Green, to a 
public parking lot.  
 
Parking Study Scope of Work    
The two primary elements of the parking study are a parking needs analysis, to assess whether the current 
public & private parking supply can efficiently accommodate peak seasonal parking demand, and an 
evaluation of public parking expansion alternatives focusing on the self-storage parcel but also on any 
potential opportunity to expand on-street parking or off-street parking through shared-lot opportunities.  

mailto:jburke3142@gmail.com


 

2 
 

Parking Needs Analysis – this analysis relied upon the results of two types of parking surveys conducted 
to determine the operational efficiency and performance of the overall public and parking supply. 
 

  A Parking Occupancy Survey was conducted by counting the use of all public and private, on- 
and off-street parking spaces inventoried within the study area over multiple hours on a weekday 
and weekend day in July. Occupancy rates could then be calculated by street section and 
individual parking lot to demonstrate where parking is overutilized, underutilized, or efficiently 
used.  Vehicles parked in unmarked spaces not included in the inventory were also documented.  
 

 A Duration of Stay/License Plate Survey was conducted on a portion of Main Street to gauge how 
long visitors/customers and other on-street parkers are parking on average and how well on-street 
parking spaces are turning over within the retail district.   

 

Evaluation of Public Parking Expansion Alternatives – In consideration of the parking needs analysis, an 
evaluation was conducted of parking expansion alternatives that increase the use of underutilized public 
and private parking assets during seasonal peak periods. Public parking expansion strategies included 
potential expansion of on-street parking and potential expansion of off-street public parking either 
through shared lot parking agreements with private and institutional uses or via the private lot/parcel 
acquisition (previously noted) and conversion to a public parking lot1.    
 
Technical Memorandum/Report – This report summarizes the results of the parking occupancy analysis, 
needs assessment, and evaluation of alternatives for expanding public parking within the study area. 
 
Parking Study Area  
The parking study area map depicted below consists of all public and private parking2 located within the 
Route 27 corridor of Belgrade Lakes Village from approximately the Belgrade Lakes Self Storage parcel 
to the Day’s Store at 182 Main Street.  The areas of on- and off-street parking that were inventoried and 
surveyed are highlighted within the study area map in gray.  The off-street parking at Brightside Marine 
was considered outside the typical walk zone of the village and therefore was not counted. 
 
The number of actual on- and off-street parking spaces had to be estimated in many cases since there are 
only marked parking stalls on a portion of Main Street from its intersection with West Road to the Day’s 
Store. Main Street south of West Road has shoulder striping but no individually striped parking stalls so 
these spaces had to be estimated. There are also no parking stalls or shoulder striping on School Street, 
West Road, or Lakeshore Drive - although cars were observed parking there.  In gravel parking lots, the 
number of actual parking stalls also had to be estimated.  
 
Parking Occupancy/Use 
Parking occupancy counts were conducted hourly on Thursday, July 6th from 3 p.m. to 8 p.m. and then 
again on Sunday, July 9th from 8 a.m. to 3 p.m.  The Thursday counts were conducted on a sunny day 
with an unusually high temperature of 90F. The Town’s summer concert series was occurring at the 
Village Green that Thursday between 6 p.m. and 8 p.m. The Sunday counts were conducted on a cloudy 
day with a high temperature of 77F.  The Belgrade Lake’s Farmer’s Market was occurring within the 
Maine Lakes Resource Center parking lot at 137 Main Street that Sunday from 8 a.m. to 1 p.m.   
 
The parking occupancy spreadsheets for the on- and off-street parking supply for both days are provided 
in the Appendix as Exhibit A.  The average utilization of the on- and off-street parking supply was 
calculated by hour and the overall peak-hour identified for both days.   

 
1 Evaluation of the off-street expansion alternative is at a concept planning level only. 
2 Residential driveways and parking lots under 5 spaces were not counted. 



 

3 
 

 
 
Parking occupancy (heat maps), which appear on pages 5 and 7 of this report, were then developed using 
the occupancy spreadsheet counts to show parking facilities that were over-used, acceptably used, or 
under-used during the weekday and Sunday peak-hour, per the range of use rates presented below.   
 

 “Over-use” - exceeding 85% effective occupancy on-street; 90% off-street, 

 “Acceptable-use” - 50% to 85% occupancy on-street; 60% to 90% off-street, or 

 “Under-use” - less than 50% occupancy 

Village 
Green 

STUDY AREA MAP 



 

4 
 

An 85% effective occupancy rate on-street and 90% rate in lots, is typically considered by parking 
planners to be the maximum acceptable occupancy rates for on- and off-street parking facilities.  Studies 
show that when occupancy exceeds these rates, the number of parkers circling in search of an available 
parking space increases rapidly along with customer dissatisfaction.     
 
The on- and off-street parking occupancy maps only show privately-owned lots large enough to provide 
some potential parking benefit to the village as public parking – whether it be through potential 
acquisition, lease, or shared lot agreement. The three lots that meet this size requirement include the 
Union Church, Belgrade Lakes Self Storage, and the Sunset Grille depicted below.  
 

     
             Union Church Lot                    Belgrade Lakes Self Storage Lot                        Sunset Grille Lot 
 
Thursday, July 6th from 3 p.m. to 8 p.m. 
On-Street Parking Supply: The parking occupancy map depicted below for Thursday July 6th shows that 
during much of the day the on-street parking supply was underutilized.  However, during the 7 p.m. to 8 
p.m. peak hour, the on-street parking supply was over capacity with heavy demand generated by the 
summer concert series event. The on-street parking supply on Main Street south of West Road and on 
West Road itself were particularly constrained. The heavy parking demand was somewhat surprising 
given the extremely high temperatures that likely kept many visitors away3.  
 
The average on-street parking occupancy rate from 7 p.m. to 8 p.m. was 101.1%, which indicates that 
parking may be occurring in unintended locations. Vehicles were observed parking too close to 
crosswalks, intersecting streets, and commercial driveways4 as well as on streets with no shoulders or 
unmarked spaces like School Street and Lakeshore Drive. In fact, vehicles parked on both sides of 
Lakeshore Drive during the concert reduced the width of the roadway such that vehicles along this two-
way street could only pass in a single direction at a time.  On-street parking was also constrained from the 
7 Lakes Alliance Building to the Day’s Store. This section of Main Street was observed to be consistently 
at or approaching capacity after 5 p.m.  
  
Off-Street Parking Supply: The off-street parking supply, which is made up of mostly very small, private 
lots that are not available for general-use public parking, was under-utilized most of the day. During the 7 
p.m. to 8 p.m. peak hour, the off-street parking supply was just under 40% utilized. Beyond the extreme 
temperatures, the primary contributing factor to this low average parking use was that the 30-space, paved 
Union Church lot located off School Street, and the 24-space (+/-), gravel Belgrade Lakes Self Storage lot 
located off Route 27, were empty. However, the 28-space (+/-), paved/gravel Sunset Grille parking lot on 
West Road was at the same time oversubscribed. 

 
3 Anecdotally, FOBLV members relayed that the 7/6/23 summer concert series event drew significantly less people 
and cars than usual, likely due to the very high temperatures on 7/6/23.   
4 On-street parking should be prohibited: 1. within 20 feet of any crosswalk; 2. within 25 feet of the terminus of the 
corner radius along the curb line at street intersections; 3. in front of all entrances and 10 feet to either side; Maine 
DOT Highway Program Design Guidance, On and Off-Street Parking, 1/17/19. 



 

5 
 

 
 

PEAK-HOUR PARKING OCCUPANCY MAP 

Thursday, July 6, 2023 (7 p.m. to 8 p.m.) 
Sunny, High of 90F 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Village 
Green 

KEY 
Effective Capacity - greater than 85% 
occupancy on-street; 90% in lots 
Acceptable Use – 50% to 85% occupancy on-
street; 50% to 90% in lots 
Significantly Underutilized – less than 50% 
occupancy 
 



 

6 
 

Sunday, July 9th from 8 a.m. to 3 p.m. 
On-street Parking Supply:  The overall on-street parking supply was on average, within an acceptable 
range of use (50% to 85%) during all hours of the Farmer’s Market (8 a.m. to 1 p.m.) except for 8 a.m. to 
9 a.m. when it was underutilized. The on-street parking supply was also underutilized from 1 p.m. to 3 
p.m. However, Main Street north of Hulin Road was at or over capacity from 9 a.m. to 2 p.m. – primarily 
due to demand from the Farmer’s Market. The east side of Main Street south of School Street was also at 
or over capacity from 9 a.m. to 11 a.m. with customer demand generated from Hello, Good Pie Café & 
Bakery and the regularly scheduled 9 a.m. mass at St. Helena’s Catholic Church. The peak hour of 
parking demand was from 10 a.m. to 11 a.m. when 78.5% of on-street parking spaces were occupied as 
depicted in the peak-hour parking occupancy map below. During the peak hour, vehicles were again 
observed parking along Main Street in unmarked spaces located too close to crosswalks, and commercial 
driveways as shown in the photos below.  
 
Off-street Parking Supply: The overall off-street parking supply, which again, is mostly private, was on 
average underutilized most of the day except during the peak hour from 10 a.m. to 11 a.m. when it was 
53.3% utilized. It should be noted though, that including the private, 24-space (+/-) Self Storage parking 
lot in the survey, which was almost always empty, lowered the utilization rate considerably. None-the-
less, during the peak hour, both the Union Church and Sunset Grille lots were at effective capacity.   
 

                    Parked too close to crosswalk                                          Parked too close to commercial driveway                
 
On-street Parking Duration-of-Stay/Turnover 
A license plate survey was conducted on Main Street from Hulin Road to just south of the Day’s Store on 
Sunday, July 9th from 8 a.m. to 2 p.m. to determine how long customers, visitors, and other on-street 
parkers park on average and how well on-street spaces turn over within the retail district.  The average 
time a parker remained parked in an individual on-street stall was 1 hour & 10 minutes.  71.3% of parkers 
stayed 1 hour or less; 12.3% stayed over 2 hours; and 7.4% remained parked over 4 hours.  
 
Overall, parking turnover was very good for a retail district considering that there are no posted time 
limits or regularly scheduled parking enforcement. The relatively high percentage of long-term on-street 
parkers (parked over 4 hours) may be to some degree a result of people working the Farmer’s Market – 
because several of the vehicles observed parking over 4 hours were in the vicinity of the Farmer’s Market 
parking lot while it was in operation.  These parkers may not have an off-street parking option.  
 



 

7 
 

 
 
PEAK-HOUR PARKING OCCUPANCY MAP 
Sunday, July 9, 2023 (10 a.m. to 11 a.m.) 
Cloudy, High of 77F 
 
 
 
 
 

Village 
Green 

Farmer’s 
Market 

KEY 
Effective Capacity - greater than 85% 
occupancy on-street; 90% in lots 
Acceptable Use – 50% to 85% occupancy on-
street; 50% to 90% in lots 
Significantly Underutilized – less than 50% 
occupancy 
 

Hulin Rd 

      St. Helena’s 



 

8 
 

Parking Needs Analysis – Findings 
The Village of Belgrade Lakes has strong seasonal, tourist-driven parking demand with virtually no off-
street public parking option. On most days, the on-street public parking supply is likely able to handle 
increased seasonal parking demand with few exceptions. But, at certain times, for example, when there 
are special events on the Village Green – or a busy Sunday when breakfast at nearby restaurants is being 
served at the same time church services are being held, parking demand can overwhelm the on-street 
parking supply resulting in vehicles parked in unintended, and sometimes, unsafe locations. The lack of 
an off-street public parking option contributes to this problem.  
 
Vehicles were observed parked too close to crosswalks, 
intersections, and commercial driveways - which can 
hinder driver and pedestrian sight lines and safety. 
Vehicles were also observed parking on streets too 
narrow to accommodate both 2-way traffic and parking 
on both sides of the street, such as Lakeshore Drive and 
School Street. Finally, vehicles were observed parked on 
the grassed area of the Village Green adjacent to West 
Road, and along School Street, which results in the 
erosion of grass, roadway shoulder, and pavement edge.                                                                                              
                                                                                                Shoulder erosion on West Road at Village Green 
 
The way parking stalls along Main Street are marked 
contributes to the above-noted conditions. This is 
because the areas located immediately adjacent to 
intersections, commercial driveways, and crosswalks, 
do not have a diagonal painted stripe nor are they posted 
NO PARKING to clearly communicate to drivers not to 
park there (see photo at right as well as previous photo 
showing a vehicle parked to close to a crosswalk). 
Therefore, it is likely unclear to a visitor whether these 
spaces are intended to be parking spaces or not.   
                                                                                                      Parked too close to commercial driveway 
 

Some other examples on Main Street where it may be unclear to visitors whether they can park along the 
curb line are shown in the photos below.  Each of these locations could result in a vehicle being parked 
either too close to a crosswalk or a commercial driveway. Again, a painted diagonal stripe, cross-
hatching, and/or signage should be provided to clearly indicate areas where parking is not allowed.                                                           
 

 
           
 
 
                              
 



 

9 
 

The FOBLV requested that a parking study be conducted to evaluate the need for additional off-street 
public parking to accommodate peak seasonal and special event parking demand.  The parking analysis 
and findings indicate that providing an off-street public parking option would have several benefits to the 
Village, including that it would:   
 

 allow the town to properly sign and stripe NO PARKING zones on-street and move 
unintended/unsafe, on-street parking into a public parking lot,  
 

 accommodate parking demand from special events – particularly those at the Village Green,  
 

 provide a benefit to retail businesses such as Hello, Good Pie Café & Bakery, the Sunset Grille, 
and the Day’s Store who each at times generate more parking demand than they have off-street 
parking spaces,    
 

 free-up on-street parking spaces for short-term retail customers by moving employees and other 
long-term parkers off-street, and  
 

 reduce vehicle traffic in the Village created by visitors searching for a parking space.   
 

A public parking lot serving the Village could also provide public amenities like restrooms and/or electric 
vehicle charging stations – neither of which the Village currently has.     

 
Evaluation of Public Parking Expansion Alternatives 
Reasonable strategies for expanding public parking within the Village could include expanding: 
 

 on-street parking through restriping and regulation,   
 off-street public parking through shared lot parking agreements with institutional uses, and 
 off-street public parking by private lot acquisition and conversion to public parking. 
 

Expansion of on-street parking through restriping and regulation 
There are very limited opportunities for expanding on-street parking within the study area.  One strategy 
that is being implemented in other municipalities to increase the effective supply of on-street parking is to 
only stripe the no parking zones (intersection/driveway corner clearances, crosswalk clearances, fire 
hydrant/fire lane zones, no parking zones, etc.) and not stripe individual parking stalls as shown in the 
photo below. People tend to park closer together when parking stalls are not provided on-street, which 
results in about a 10% increase 
in the number of vehicles 
parked lawfully on-street5.  
However, given that there are 
only about 50 marked parking 
stalls on Main Street between 
West Road and the Day’s Store, 
this action would only increase 
on-street parking capacity by 
about 5 vehicles.  
                                                                              Example of striping parking corner and crosswalk setbacks 
                                                                               without lining individual parking stalls in Haverhill, MA 
 

 
5 This can be readily observed by comparing the higher number of cars parked on a section of Main Street south of 
West Road where parking stalls are unmarked versus the same length section of Main Street north of West Road 
where parking stalls are marked.   



 

10 
 

Most communities set time limits for on-street parking within their retail district to discourage employees, 
residents, and longer-term visitors from taking parking spaces from customers and other short-term 
visitors.  This strategy can expand the effective supply of public parking by moving longer-term parkers 
within the busy retail district to an often, lower demand, off-street public parking location thus increasing 
on-street parking turnover. However, as previously noted, parking turnover in the retail district is already 
very good and even if it wasn’t, the Village does not have any off-street public parking to move long-term 
parkers to.  
 
Expansion of off-street public parking through shared-lot parking agreements                  
Many municipalities that experience seasonal fluctuations of downtown 
parking demand will develop agreements with other public, private, or 
institutional owners of parking facilities to allow general-purpose public use 
of their parking facilities when they are not being used privately. Examples of 
this include public use of church parking lots on weekdays or a district court 
lot on weekends. Typically, shared-lot agreements for public parking use can 
be secured at a fraction of the cost of fully leasing or purchasing a private lot.  
Often, a municipality will agree to undertake certain maintenance functions 
for the private lot (ex. plowing, striping, paving, landscaping, etc.) in 
compensation for its public parking use. The shared-lot agreement typically 
includes insurance coverage and indemnification for public use. 
 
As stated earlier, most of the off-street parking supply within the Village is made up of small private lots 
not large enough to be considered good candidates for shared-lot parking agreements. The best 
opportunity for a shared-lot agreement appears to be the paved 30-space, Union Church lot off School 
Street, which was nearly full during the Village’s Sunday morning peak parking hour but completely 
empty during the Thursday evening summer concert series peak hour. The Union Church is reportedly 
used throughout the week by various church-sanctioned groups, so its use for expanding off-street public 
parking, even if the church was agreeable to it, may be quite limited. That said, it may be beneficial for 
the Town or event sponsors to consider discussing potential shared-use opportunities with the church 
during certain times/special events if it is not already happening.  
 
The other sizable private lots within the Village include the Sunset Grille lot and the Belgrade Lakes Self 
Storage Center lot. The Sunset Grille is open 7 days/week from 8 a.m. to 8 p.m., so the lot is not available 
when additional public parking is needed.  The Self Storage Center is open and available to its customers 
24/7, so its permitted, private use appears to conflict with any potential shared public parking use.     
 
Expansion of off-street public parking by private lot acquisition & conversion to public parking 
The FOBLV requested that the study scope of services include a concept-level evaluation of the potential 
acquisition and conversion of the privately-owned Belgrade Lakes Self Storage parcel to a public 
parking lot. There were several reasons cited as to why this parcel may be ideally suited for public 
parking, including that its location is: 
 

 at the entrance to the Village, which would allow visitors to park and then walk rather than drive 
into town,  
 

 next to, and contiguous with the Village Green to provide off-street public parking and safe 
pedestrian access to and from the Village Green, including during special events, and                                                                            
 

 close to the Sunset Grille, Hello, Good Pie, and St. Helena’s Catholic Church – each of which can 
at times generate more parking demand than they have off-street parking spaces. 

 

The self-storage facility is also a low intensity land use in that it does not generate much if any pedestrian 



 

11 
 

traffic to or from the Village. From a downtown planning perspective, low-intensity land uses, like self-
storage centers, are typically better suited in locations outside a retail district area.    
 

TAX PARCEL: The self-storage lot, highlighted in red, is shown as Parcel 6 on the Town’s Tax Maps 
depicted in the figure at right.  Per the Tax Map, 
the parcel ranges in width from 128 feet at West 
Road to 120 feet at Route 27. It is 270 feet along 
its southerly side and 212 feet on its northerly 
border with the Village Green. The Village 
green parcels are highlighted in green.     

   

SITE CHARACTERISTICS: An aerial drone 
photo of the self-storage facility and Village 
Green is depicted below. Since no topographical 
or boundary survey of the self-storage parcel 
was available for the study, the lot lines shown 
on the aerial photo are only approximate and not 
to scale. The elevation of the self-storage facility 
site is significantly higher than the elevations of Route 27, West Road, and the Village Green at the 
property line. There are plenty of mature trees and other vegetation stabilizing the rather steep 
embankments from the self-storage facility site down to the Village Green and West Road.  The mature 
tree canopy visually screens the site on three sides.  
 

 

Self-Storage Building 

N 
Village Green 

W
est R

o
ad

 

Rt. 27 

Not to Scale 

Approximate property line 

 



 

12 
 

The site is served by a single 25-ft. wide (+/-) gravel driveway providing access to and from Route 27. 
The driveway connects to a compacted, gravel drive path that encircles the self-storage building. An 
existing grass/gravel parking area runs along the northerly tree line of the property, but parking spaces are 
not demarcated. A simple stockade fence runs along a portion of the southerly property line. The fence 
was presumably installed to screen vehicle headlights from an abutting residential property. The self-
storage building is served by an overhead electrical service from West Road.   

                Route 27 driveway                     Informal parking along northly tree line     Fence along south property line                         
  
DRAINAGE: There does not appear to be any structured drainage onsite. There are grassed drainage 
swales running along Route 27 to collect run-off from the roadway and site. The continuous swale accepts 
upstream water via a pipe culvert under the self-storage lot driveway and directs it to a pipe culvert 
located near the northeast corner of the property line with the Village Green. This drainage swale and pipe 
culvert system continues down Route 27 along the Village Green parcel. There is also a drainage swale 
running along West Road adjacent to the westerly property line, which is partially lined with stone. This 
drainage swale continues down along the Village Green parcel via a series of pipe culverts.   

  Self-Storage Lot driveway culvert         Drainage swale along Rt. 27 and        Drainage swale along West Road and  
           and swale facing south                     Self-Storage Lot facing north                Self-Storage Lot facing south 
 
PEDESTRIAN ACCESSIBILITY: There are no ADA-accessible 
public sidewalks connecting the self-storage site to the Village retail 
district via Route 27 or West Road.  However, there is a section of 
brick sidewalk on the westerly side of Route 27 that connects the 
Village Green to in-bound village sidewalks on the easterly side of 
the road via a crosswalk as shown in the photo at right.  This short 
sidewalk section also connects to a stone walkway leading through 
the Village Green to its gazebo and parking lot.  There are at least 
three options for connecting the self-storage site with the Village 
sidewalk system. The first option would be to extend the brick 
sidewalks shown in the photo above along Route 27 to the site. The second option would be to 



 

13 
 

reconfigure and extend the stone path that currently connects to the Village Green parking lot to the Self-
Storage site. The third option would be to construct new sidewalks on the easterly side of West Road 
connecting the self-storage site to the crosswalk between the Village Green and the Sunset Grille.  
 
The self-storage lot is located within about a 10-minute walk to the entire village.  Approximate walk-
times from the self-storage lot to various locations within the Village are listed below6. 
 
Village Green   Less than a minute 
 
Hello, Good Pie Bakery & Cafe 1 minute 
 
Sunset Grille Restaurant  1 minute 30 seconds 
 
St. Helena’s Catholic Church 1 minute 30 seconds 
 
Belgrade Lakes Seafood 
Dairy Bar & Restaurant   1 minute 30 seconds 
 
Hulin Road    4 minutes 
 
Town Beach on  
Lake Shore Drive  5 minutes 
 
7 Lakes Alliance  6 minutes 30 seconds 
 
Village Inn & Tavern  7 minutes 
 
Day’s Store   8 minutes 30 seconds 
 
Belgrade Lakes  
Peninsula Park   10 minutes 
 
VEHICLE/STREET ACCESSIBILITY:  The Self-Storage site has direct access from a major street 
(Route 27) at the entrance to the village area.  This is a desirable feature for a public parking lot because 
visitors would be able to park and walk rather than drive into the village – thus reducing potential vehicle 
traffic impacts. The lot abuts two major streets (Route 27 and West Road) but is only served by the one 
driveway. Having multiple entry/egress points are preferable to single-access driveways because they can 
disperse and distribute traffic to reduce the impacts at a single intersection. While having a second 
driveway on West Road is preferable from a vehicle/street accessibility standpoint, it may not be required 
for the potential use as a public parking lot depending on the number of parking spaces provided.    
 
The posted speed limit on Route 27 at the Self-Storage site is 35 mph decreasing to 25 mph at St. 
Helena’s Church.  The posted speed limit on West Road at the Self-Storage site is 25 mph. No speed 
study data on these segments of Route 27 and West Road were available for the study.  Based on the 35-
mph speed limit, the safe stopping sight distance is approximately 246 to 287 feet and design intersection 
sight distance are to be 390 feet7. Stopping site distance provides sufficient distance for drivers to 

 
6 There are no sidewalks serving the Self-Storage lot directly. 
7 A Policy on Geometric Design of Highway and Streets, 8th Edition, American Association of State Highway and 
Transportation Officials (AASHTO), 2018. The safe stopping sight distance range listed is for flat roadway up to a 
9% grade. The design intersection sight distance is for a passenger car turning left from the driveway.  



 

14 
 

anticipate and avoid collisions. Design intersection sight distance ensures the intersection street/driveway 
operates smoothly. There appears to be more than 390 feet of sight distance on Route 27 to the self-
storage driveway, but this should be confirmed in the field or via an engineering review of roadway plan 
profiles should the site be developed for public parking use.  
 
LOT GEOMETRY AND EFFICIENCY: The geometry and efficiency of a given parcel for public 
parking lot development is an extremely important factor that relates to the overall number of parking 
spaces that can be realized on the site divided by its size (spaces/square foot). Lot efficiency relates 
directly to the cost/benefit of developing an individual lot for public parking. In general, the most efficient 
layout for a public parking lot stall is to provide a rectangular rather than irregular shaped lot with the 
long sides of the parking lot parallel to each other, and with parking spaces located along the perimeter of 
the lot.  Two-way traffic lanes would be provided to access the parking stalls, set at 90-degrees, on either 
side of the drive aisle for the highest space efficiency.  
 
An efficiently laid-out full-bay of public parking is typically 60-feet wide, comprised of a two-way, 24-
foot drive aisle serving a row of two, 18-foot-long x 9-foot-wide8, 90-degree parking stalls on either side 
of the drive aisle.  This geometric layout typically results in a very efficient 300 to 350 square feet per 
parking stall, which includes drive aisles.  Since the Belgrade Lakes Self-Storage parcel is 120 to 128 feet 
wide, it theoretically has the potential to provide two, 60-foot-wide parking bays9.  However, there are 
several factors that reduce the usable width of the existing site for public parking including the following:  
 

1. Property line set-back requirements – per the Town of Belgrade Development Review Ordinance, 
all parking spaces and aisles must be at least 5-feet from any side or rear property line, which 
effectively reduces the width of the usable portion of the parcel to 110 to 118 feet.     
 

2. Existing earthen berms – there are existing earthen berms supporting the elevated self-storage lot, 
which physically sits above Route 27, the Village Green, and West Road.  The width of these 
earthen berms, which can be determined by topographical survey, may effectively reduce the 
usable width of the parcel even more than the set-back requirements described above.  

 

3. Vegetative/artificial screening requirements – the Town of Belgrade Development Review 
Ordinance for the Screening of Structures, Parking Lots and Other Non-residential Uses 
establishes a minimum 35-foot vegetative buffer along the entire frontage of a lot along the public 
way (except for access points or driveway lanes), which appears to be in place both at Route 27 
and West Road. The Ordinance also requires a minimum 50-foot vegetative buffer along a 
neighboring non-commercial property line when the buffer consists of a natural woodland – as it 
does between the self-storage lot and the Village Green – where it exceeds 50-feet in width. The 
Ordinance does allow a fence, wall, and/or berm for screening where no vegetation can be 
maintained or unusual site conditions prevail, but most be no closer than 5 feet from the property 
line – as is the case along the property line between the self-storage parcel and the neighboring 
residential property to the south.   

 
Maintaining a 50-foot natural woodland buffer along the northerly property line between the self-storage 
site and the Village Green would reduce the usable portion of the self-storage parcel to a dimension 
considerably less than the 120-feet needed for two 2 full, 90-degree parking bays (4 rows of parking). 
However, if the parcel was acquired by the FOBLV and dedicated to the Town, it could potentially be 
consolidated with the Village Green into one parcel, thus eliminating the need for the visual 

 
8 18-ft. long by 9-ft. wide parking stalls is also the minimum parking stall dimensions per the Town of Belgrade’s 
Development Review Ordinance.   
9 Assuming removal of the existing self-storage building and foundation.  



 

15 
 

screening/buffer, which in turn could allow for the development of 2 full bays of public parking10.  Based 
on the usable length of the self-storage lot, a single bay (2 rows) of parking on the existing site is 
estimated to yield approximately 40 to 45 parking stalls; a single bay of parking plus an added center row 
of parking would provide approximately 48 to 61 parking stalls11; and for 2 full bays of parking, about 80 
to 90 parking stalls.  
 
TOWN PLANNING/COORDINATION:  As part of the study process, the consultant met individually 
via teleconference with the Belgrade Town Manager Lorna Dee Nichols, Code Enforcement Officer Hans 
Rasmussen, and Road Commissioner Jason Stevens to discuss the potential FOBLV acquisition, 
development, and use of the self-storage parcel as a public parking lot.   
 
Town Manager Nichols noted that while parking and pedestrian safety in the Village had been improved 
with the recent widening of sidewalks and marking of parking stalls, there still seems to be a shortage of 
parking during busy times in the summer months. She noted that the Belgrade Select Board supported 
efforts for potential expansion of public parking to the Village. She offered that developing a site that is 
large enough to provide a meaningful amount of public parking - like the self-storage site - was preferable 
to purchasing and assembling multiple smaller parcels within the village for the same purpose - because 
the latter option could increase vehicle traffic within the Village and convert in-village sites to parking 
that are more suitable for retail use.  
 
Code Enforcement Officer Rasmussen noted that maintaining an existing vegetative/tree buffer and 
fencing between the northerly and southerly abutting properties of the self-storage lot would be desirable 
– but that the wooden picket fencing should be updated to a rubber or vinyl-coated fabric fence - one that 
insulates noise and prevents headlight spillover into abutting properties but allows wind through it. He 
stated that tree trimming of overhanging branches would be allowed since the parcel does not fall under 
shoreland zoning. He noted that maintaining the lot in its current gravel form would be more desirable 
from a drainage standpoint than paving it because with gravel, the speed of rainwater runoff to the storm 
sewer would be reduced. He said that if the self-storage building and concrete foundation was removed 
and replaced with a gravel surface the lot could arguably be considered less impervious.  He mentioned 
that during heavy rains, water currently runs-down West Road into the culvert crossing Lake Shore Drive 
and the Sunset Grille parking lot occasionally floods.  He offered that if onsite public parking and the lot 
was to remain gravel, earthen berms could be used to delineate areas of head-in parking and the lot could 
be closed during the winter when it was not needed, thus eliminating the need for plowing. He noted that 
overnight RV parking regulation and enforcement may be needed. 
 
Road Commissioner Stevens noted that any physical change to the existing Route 27 driveway at the self-
storage lot would require Maine DOT approval via a driveway permit.  Any change of grandfathered use 
could also require a Maine DOT driveway permit12.  Any proposed driveway on West Road would require 
a driveway permit from the Town.  
 
PARKING LOT DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT: As previously stated, given the size and physical features 
of the self-storage parcel and in consideration of the Town’s property line set-back requirements, it does 
not appear feasible to develop two full parking bays onsite unless the self-storage parcel is formally 
consolidated with the Village Green parcel. However, two-full bays of parking are not necessarily needed 
right away. A single bay of parking or a single bay and a center row could potentially be developed 
relatively quickly with minimal modification to the existing site and at relatively low cost.   

 
10 Assuming engineering and financial feasibility confirms this.   
11Lower number of spaces in the range assumes that the center row is parallel parking; the higher number assumes 
the center row is 90-degree parking like the other rows. 
12 Per the Maine DOT website, the grandfathered use is the parcel’s use that existed as of 2002.  



 

16 
 

 
The single parking bay concept would include removing the self-storage building and its concrete 
foundation, replacing it with compacted gravel, and providing one full, 60-foot-wide parking bay with 90-
degree, 9 ft. x 18 ft. parking stalls and a minimum 24-foot wide, two-way drive aisle as shown in the 
concept layout below. Entry and exit to the lot could be provided from the site’s existing driveway – as 
shown in the concept layout below13 - or by constructing a second driveway on West Road14.  Since the 
site would remain gravel, the parking stalls and aisles would be informal and not demarcated. The head-in 
parking areas could be organized using wooden guardrail installed around the perimeter of the parking lot 
and running perpendicular to the parking stalls. A lower cost option to wooden guard rails around the 
perimeter of the lot would be to construct earthen berms or lay wooden utility poles on the ground 
instead.  Parking areas and regulations would be posted behind the wooden guardrail, berms, or utility 
poles. Overhead light poles and portable public restrooms could also be installed outside the delineated 
parking area, behind the wooden guardrail. Tree limbs overhanging the lot would be trimmed back.  

 

This single parking bay concept could be implemented relatively quickly and may make sense to pursue 
even if a decision is made to consolidate the Self-Storage parcel with the Village Green parcel to develop 
a much larger parking lot in a later phase. If the single parking bay concept is pursued, there are a few 
design-related questions that would need further analysis and discussion during the engineering design 
phase, once surveyed plans are available.   

 
13 Would require Maine DOT concurrence that the change in use and additional parking spaces would not require a 
state driveway permit and potential modification of the existing driveway, or provision of a second driveway.   
14 A second driveway on West Road would eliminate about 4 parking spaces in the lot.  



 

17 
 

These design related questions include, but are not limited to the following:  
    

 Should the existing driveway be reused as is, or regraded/reconstructed, widened, and/or centered 
on the lot under a Maine DOT driveway permit? Will a second driveway on West Road be 
required/desired?  
 

 What is the optimum solution for providing an ADA-accessible connection from the parking lot 
to the Village Green and the existing public sidewalk system?     
 

 Can an additional single row of head-in or parallel parking be included in the middle of the 
proposed single-bay parking lot? And if so, what is the impact to trees/costs and how will it be 
delineated?  
 

Recommendations  
 
The following recommendations are provided to address the study findings: 
 
1. Pursue the development of an off-street public parking lot serving the Village.   

 
The evaluation of public parking expansion alternatives demonstrated that there are very limited 
opportunities to either expand on-street parking or secure off-street parking through shared-lot 
agreements. In fact, there are very few parcels within the Village large enough to accommodate 
development of any reasonable amount of additional off-street public parking.  The FOBLV identified the 
privately-owned Belgrade Lakes Self Storage parcel for potential acquisition and conversion to a public 
parking lot. As previously discussed, assuming the self-storage building is removed, the lot is large 
enough to provide at least 40 parking spaces with expansion potential and is ideally located at the 
gateway to the Village, adjacent to the Village Green, near popular restaurants, and within a 10-minute 
walk of the entire Village.  
 
Prior to purchase of the property, a boundary and site/topographical survey should be conducted along 
with an engineering feasibility evaluation of various parking lot design concept alternatives with 
estimates of probable costs.  A real estate appraisal should also be prepared prior to purchase.           
 
2. Seek to develop shared-lot agreement(s) with the Union Church. 
    
While the 30-space, paved parking lot at the Union Church was nearly full during the Sunday morning 
peak parking hour, and actively used during the Sunday Farmer’s Market, it was empty or near empty 
throughout the weekday observed. The Union Church is reportedly used throughout the week by various 
church-sanctioned groups, so its use for expanding off-street public parking, even if the church was 
agreeable to it, may be quite limited. That said, it still may be beneficial for the Town or event sponsors to 
discuss potential shared-use arrangements with the church (if they haven’t already) during certain 
times/special events.  
 
3. Properly stripe & sign the NO PARKING Zones  
 
Vehicles parked in unintended, and in some cases unsafe locations within the study area are prevalent. 
Some of this can be attributed to the lack of an off-street public parking option. However, parking areas 
adjacent to intersections, driveways, and crosswalks are missing the diagonal striping and postings to 
clearly delineate a no parking zone.  The result is that people are routinely parking right up to crosswalks 
and intersections creating an unsafe condition.  Corner clearances on side streets within the Village are 
also not posted, NO PARKING.  It is recommended that parking setbacks be appropriately marked and 



 

18 
 

signed 25 feet from intersecting streets; 20 feet from crosswalks; and 10 feet from driveways per the 
Maine DOT Highway Program Design Guidance previously cited.  
 
It is recommended that The Town consider posting no parking on at least one side of Lake Shore Drive 
near its intersection with West Road. People parking on both sides of Lake Shore Drive during special 
events at the Village Green results in the roadway being too narrow to maintain two-way traffic.  It is also 
recommended that the Town consider posting no parking on the easterly side of West Road from its 
intersection with Main Street to the Village Green parking lot – where people are parking on the grass 
resulting in roadway shoulder and grass erosion.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

19 
 

APPENDIX 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

20 
 

EXHIBIT A: Parking Occupancy Spreadsheets – Thursday, July 6, 2023 

On-Street Parking Occupancy Counts  
Belgrade Lakes, ME         

Thurs., July 6, 2023

Sunny,       

High of 90F

Street From To Side
# of 

Spaces
3 to 4 pm 4 to 5 pm 5 to 6pm 6 to 7pm 7 to 8pm

Peak 

Use%

PEAK 

PERIOD

Main Street
Belgrade Lakes 

Self Storage 
West Road WS 15 0 0 0 14 19 126.7%

  ES 10 0 0 0 5 12 120.0%

West Road Hulin Road WS 6 0 1 1 4 6 100.0%

   ES 13 0 0 0 0 6 46.2%

 Hulin Road
7 Lakes Alliance 

Bldg.
WS 8 4 4 4 4 4 50.0%

   ES 8 2 2 2 1 1 12.5%

 
7 Lakes Alliance 

Bldg. 
Day's Store WS 9 2 4 11 9 11 122.2%

 ES 6 5 5 6 5 5 83.3%

School Street Main St. Hulin Road WS 0 0 0 2 1 1 N/A

  ES 0 0 0 0 0 0 N/A

West Road Main St.
Village Green 

Lot
WS 6 0 0 0 4 6 100.0%

 ES 12 2 0 2 12 12 100.0%

Lake Shore Drive West Road westerly NS 0 0 0 0 2 7 N/A

   SS 0 0 0 0 4 4 N/A

Total 93 15 16 28 65 94

% Utilization 16.1% 17.2% 30.1% 69.9% 101.1%  

Parking Lot Occupancy Counts
Belgrade Lakes, ME 
Thurs., July 6, 2023 Sunny, High of 90F

Parking Lot Street # of Spaces 3 to 4 pm 4 to 5 pm 5 to 6 pm 6 to 7 pm
7 to 8 
pm

PEAK 
HOUR

Belgrades Lake Self 
Storage

1203 West Road 24 0 0 0 0 0

Village Green 1204 West Road 6 0 2 3 6 6

Sunset Grille 1214 West Road 28 12 12 21 27 32

Hello Good Pie 39 Main Street 5 1 0 0 0 0

St. Helena's Roman 

Catholic Church
47 Main Street 12 1 2 3 3 6

Union Church 62 Main Street 30 3 1 0 0 0

Lake Home Group 

Real Estate
75 Main Street 12 6 7 4 3 5

Vacant Commercial 

Building
79 Main Street 10 0 0 0 0 0

87 Main St. Shops 87 Main Street 12 10 4 1 0 0

7 Lakes Alliance 137 Main Street 5 5 5 3 1 1

Village Inn 157 Main Street 10 2 2 5 8 5

U.S. Post Office 171 Main Street 6 3 2 6 1 4

Day Store 182 Main Street 7 1 4 6 5 5

TOTAL 167 44 41 52 54 64

26.3% 24.6% 31.1% 32.3% 38.3%
 



 

21 
 

Parking Occupancy Spreadsheets – Sunday, July 9, 2023 

On-Street Parking Occupancy Counts  
Belgrade Lakes, ME         
Sun., July 9, 2023

Cloudy,       
High of 77F

Street From To Side
# of 

Spaces
8 to 9 am 9 to 10am

10 to 

11am

11 to 

12pm

12 to         

1 pm
1 to 2 pm 2 to 3 pm

PEAK 

PERIOD

Main Street
Belgrade Lakes 

Self Storage 
West Road WS 15 1 10 6 8 5 1 2

  ES 10 2 12 10 3 4 2 0

West Road Hulin Road WS 6 0 1 3 7 6 3 1

   ES 13 2 0 10 9 7 4 5

 Hulin Road
7 Lakes Alliance 
Bldg.

WS 8 6 9 9 10 8 8 2

   ES 8 5 8 9 10 7 7 1

 
7 Lakes Alliance 
Bldg. 

Day's Store WS 9 7 9 13 10 7 9 4

 ES 6 3 8 7 5 6 7 3

School Street Main St. Hulin Road WS 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

  ES 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

West Road Main St.
Village Green 

Lot
WS 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 ES 12 0 0 6 8 2 0 0

Lake Shore Drive West Road westerly NS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

   SS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 93 26 57 73 71 52 41 18

% Utilization 28.0% 61.3% 78.5% 76.3% 55.9% 44.1% 19.4%
 

Parking Lot Occupancy Counts
BELGRADE LAKES 

VILLAGE, MAINE 

Sun., July 9, 2023

Cloudy, High of 77F

Parking Lot Street # of Spaces 8 to 9 am 9 to 10 am 10 to 11 am 11 to 12pm 12 to 1 pm 1 to 2 pm 2 to 3 pm

PEAK 

HOUR
Belgrades Lake Self 

Storage
1203 West Road 24 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Village Green 1204 West Road 6 0 0 1 0 2 0 0

Sunset Grille 1214 West Road 28 14 19 25 18 14 13 15

Hello Good Pie 39 Main Street 5 4 4 4 4 3 4 4

St. Helena's Roman 

Catholic Church
47 Main Street 12 1 14 8 2 0 0 0

Union Church 62 Main Street 30 4 14 28 12 0 0 20

Lake Home Group 

Real Estate
75 Main Street 12 3 3 6 10 5 4 5

Vacant Commercial 

Building
79 Main Street 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

87 Main St. Shops 87 Main Street 12 0 2 5 9 6 6 6

7 Lakes Alliance 137 Main Street 5
Farmer's 

Market

Farmer's 

Market

Farmer's 

Market

Farmer's 

Market

Farmer's 

Market

Farmer's 

Market
1

Village Inn 157 Main Street 10 2 3 1 6 4 1 1

U.S. Post Office 171 Main Street 6 1 2 5 6 6 3 2

Day Store 182 Main Street 7 2 2 6 8 6 4 4

TOTAL 167 31 63 89 75 46 35 58

18.6% 37.7% 53.3% 44.9% 27.5% 21.0% 34.7%
 

 



Memo 
_______________________________ 

Appointments/Resignations 

Kimberly Dallas – appointment to Lakes and Natural Resources committee 

Andrew Dallas – resignation as Local Health Officer 

Lorna Dee Nichols – appointment as interim Local Health Officer Maureen 

Milliken – resignation from Communications committee

Jacob Farmer - appointment to Parks and Recreation Board 



lorna
Line

lorna
Line

lorna
Line



From: Andrew Dallas
To: Lorna Dee Nichols
Subject: Resignation as Health Officer
Date: Wednesday, October 11, 2023 8:43:55 AM

EXTERNAL MESSAGE:

Lorna,

I've decided the health officer position is not for me. I'm giving two-weeks notice as of today.
I'll be happy to help with any necessary transition to a new person.

Best regards,
-AD

-- 

(M) (857) 327-7832

mailto:andrew@dallasmedtech.com
mailto:townmanager@townofbelgrade.com
https://www.linkedin.com/in/andrewdallas/


From: Maureen Milliken
To: Lorna Dee Nichols
Cc: Barbara Allen
Subject: Communcations Committee resignation
Date: Wednesday, October 11, 2023 12:35:45 PM

EXTERNAL MESSAGE:

Lorna and Barbara,
Please accept, and pass on to the select board, my resignation from the Belgrade
Communications Committee, effective immediately.
Thanks!
Maureen Milliken

mailto:mmilliken47@gmail.com
mailto:townmanager@townofbelgrade.com
mailto:ballen@townofbelgrade.com


Town Manager
Pencil

Town Manager
Pencil

Town Manager
Pencil

Town Manager
Pencil

Town Manager
Pencil



Memo 
_______________________________ 

Assessing Request for Proposals 

 

Review and discussion of draft request for proposals for assessing services. The current 

contract expires December 31, 2023. 



 

Page 1 of 12  

 
 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TAX 

ASSESSOR SERVICES 
 

Town of Belgrade 
990 Augusta Road 
Belgrade, ME 0491 

 
The Town of Belgrade is seeking proposals from qualified individuals and firms to provide 
property tax assessment services. Belgrade has a contracted Tax Assessor who is 
appointed by the Town Manager. Services include, but are not limited to, preparation and 
timely filing of assessment documents, abatement and supplemental tax assessments, 
yearly appraisals, market analysis, data entry and consulting as necessary. 

 
Sealed proposals addressed to Lorna Dee Nichols, Town of Belgrade, 990 Augusta 
Road, Belgrade, ME 04917, and clearly marked "Belgrade Tax Assessor Services 
Proposal" will be accepted until 12:00 p.m. noon on Monday, 
_________________________, 2023. 

 
The Town of Belgrade reserves the right to reject any or all proposals. 

 
SECTION I: GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
A. Point of Contact 

 
Town of Belgrade 
Lorna Dee Nichols, Town Manager 
Address: 990 Augusta Road, Belgrade, ME 04917 
Email:  townmanager@townofbelgrade.com  
Phone: (207) 495-2258 

 
B. Town Information 

 
The Town of Belgrade has approximately 3,200 residents, is located in central Maine, has 
approximately 3,500 parcels with a taxable value of $1,043,072,700 and approximately 50 
personal property accounts with a taxable value of $4,458,000. Please see additional 
information attached as Exhibit A. 

 
C. Limits of Liability 

 
The Town of Belgrade assumes no liability for any costs incurred by respondents, or in 
responding to further requests for interviews, additional information, etc. prior to issuance 
of a contract. 
 
 

mailto:townmanager@townofbelgrade.com


 

Page 2 of 12  

D. Type of Contract 
Contracted Tax Assessor for a one (1)  year period beginning January 1, 2024 and ending 
December 31, 2024. 

 
E. Questions 

 
Questions about the RFP shall be submitted electronically via email to Lorna Dee Nichols at 
townmanager@townofbelgrade.com 

 
In the subject line for the email put "Question: Tax Assessor Services." All submissions 
must contain the name of the person asking the question, address, phone number and 
email address.  

 
F. Solicitation Process 

 
The evaluation team will consist of the Town Manager, Tax Collector, Treasurer and a 
member of the Board of Selectmen to review and rank proposals based on the evaluation 
criteria outlined in Section III-Evaluation Criteria. A short list of respondents may be 
selected for further evaluation. Only those individuals or firms that are placed on the short 
list on the basis of evaluation as judged by the criteria will be considered for interviews. 
The final contract must be approved by the Board of Selectmen. After all approvals, 
verification of all requirements, and signatures by appropriate parties, implementation may 
begin. 

 
G. Conditions of Award 

 
It is the intent of the Town to award the project to the most qualified and responsive 
individual or firm, provided that the proposal has been submitted in accordance with the 
requirements of the RFP. The committee shall be the sole judge of the individual's or firm's 
qualifications and whether the proposal is in the best interest of the Town. Up to the time of 
the signature of the contract, the Town shall have the right in its sole discretion to reject any 
and all of the bids, to request re-bids for the work and to waive any defects, time 
limits or deficiencies in any bid, and to terminate consideration with or without cause 
if deemed in the best interest of the Town to do so. 

 
H. Amendments to this RFP 

 
The Town may revise this RFP by using written addenda. Addenda will be posted 
on the Town's website and emailed to all known bidders. 

 
The Town may request additional information if deemed necessary. Failure to provide such 
information may result in proposal being considered incomplete. The Town reserves the 
right to be the sole judge of all such criterion. 

 
 
 
 

mailto:townmanager@townofbelgrade.com


 

Page 3 of 12  

I. Insurance Certificates 
 

The individual or firm must be able to provide evidence of the following insurance coverage: 
 

The individual or firm will serve in the capacity of an independent contractor and 
will maintain insurance at least as hereinafter set forth so as to protect it and the 
Town from any and all claims for personal injury and property damage, and for 
claims under the Worker's Compensation Acts, including death arising out of 
operation of this agreement, for the entire term of the contract. 
A comprehensive general liability insurance policy with the following limits of coverage: 
• Bodily Injury: $1,000,000 each occurrence 
• Property Damage: $400,000 each occurrence 
• $1,000,000 aggregate of all claims per occurrence 
A comprehensive automobile insurance policy with the following limits: 
• Bodily Injury: $1,000,000 
• Property Damage: $500,000 per each occurrence 
All of the insurance must be issued by an insurer licensed, authorized and 
maintaining an office to do business in Maine. 

 
J. Confidentiality 

 
Proposals will be kept confidential until after they have been evaluated. A log will 
be maintained of proposals received, but proposals will NOT be opened publicly. 

 
SECTION II: PROPOSAL SPECIFICATION 

 
A. The Scope of Services for this RFP is set forth in Attachment B. 

 
The following information should be provided in a separate sealed envelope marked 
"Belgrade Tax Assessor Services Proposal." 

 
B. Bid Response Elements 

 
Respondents should provide detailed information addressing each of the following areas: 

• Work History 
• Contract Work References - Submit three (3) 
• Qualifications and experience with providing requested services in other communities. 
• Information regarding any legal action relevant to the requested services that are 

pending or have been resolved within the past 24 months. 
• The proposal should reflect the annual cost to provide services outlined in the 

Scope of Services. 
 

Failure to fully disclose requested information shall be grounds for disqualification. 
This section shall not be interpreted to require disclosure by State and Federal 
Statutes and/or court order. 



 

Page 4 of 12  

The Town of Belgrade utilizes TRIO financial software, TRIO Real Estate, TRIO Sketch, 
Personal Property and Commercial software. Each contractor must show evidence of 
familiarity with all systems by submitting a list of projects/contracts that require the use of 
each system or ability to adapt to the Town's software needs. 

 
SECTION III: EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 
1. Evaluation Criteria that will be used by the selection team 

a. Proof as Certified Maine Assessor (CMA) - REQUIRED 
b. General experience and technical competence (30%) 
c. Approach to scope of services (15%) 
d. Value and cost of proposed services that would maximize benefit of the Town (30%) 
e. Review of references (5%) 

 
2. Comparative Criteria 

a. Knowledge and experience with TRIO (5%) 
b. Experience conducting commercial/residential reevaluations (5%) 
c. Experience working with local Board of Selectmen (5%) 

 
3. Miscellaneous 

a. Familiarity with Town of Belgrade and its assessed parcels (5%) 
 

Any contract awarded as a result of this RFP will be awarded without discrimination on the 
basis of race, color, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, political affiliation or national 
origin. 



 

Page 5 of 12  

Attachment A 
 

Town of Belgrade Assessing Profile 
 

Total number of real estate accounts:  
Residential Improved: 
Commercial Improved: 
Downtown Commercial Mixed Use: 
3+ Unit Apartment: 
Industrial: 
Commercial/Residential Vacant: 
Exempt: 
Taxable Value: 

 
Number and type of exemptions/credits: 

Homesteads: 
Veterans: 
Blind: 
Parsonage: 

 
Number of personal property accounts: 

Taxable Value: 
 

Number of BETR accounts: 
 

Number of BETE accounts: 
 

Year of last revaluation: 
 

Latest assessment to sale ratio: 
 

Latest COD: 
 

Number of abatements since last 

revaluation: Number of appeals beyond 

Assessor: 

Number of TIF districts: 0 



 

Page 6 of 12  

Attachment B 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

Nature of work: 
 

This is specialized professional, administrative and technical work in the valuation 
and assessment of real and personal property in the Town of Belgrade. 

 
The Contract Assessor is responsible for appraising and assessing real and personal 
property for taxation within the Town, and for the administration and maintenance of all 
records necessary to administer and maintain the assessment program. Work involves 
extensive fieldwork in the review of existing and new properties, and analytical and 
administrative work in the office to maintain and update values for properties. 

 
Contractor is required to exercise considerable independent judgment in administering 
the assessment program within specific state laws and regulations, (Title 36, M.R.S.), 
with general (non-assessing) guidance from the Town Manager. 

 
Essential Duties and Responsibilities: 

 
Plans, administers, and maintains the assessment system for the Town in maintaining 
current property valuation through visitation, data collection, and analysis. 

 
Appraises residential, commercial, agricultural, and industrial properties; special rights 
and interests; personal property; and public utility equipment and properties. 

 
Maintains and reviews property transfers; reviews and approves all exemptions for 
taxes as permitted by the State; makes and enters computation valuations and other 
data in valuation commitment books; required State reporting forms; maintains the 
assessing database; and determines the valuations to be placed on new, renovated, 
and existing property based on changing market value. 

 
Develops and administers a program for the collection of sales, costs, income, and 
other economic and social data affecting property values; prepares appraisal and 
other reports as necessary. 

 
Assists other Town departments with valuation-related questions and provides any 
necessary related information to those departments. 

 
Maintains a positive relationship with public and real estate professionals in 
obtaining information pertaining to the study and sale of real estate. 

 
Deed transfers and research. 



 

Page 7 of 12  

State and local reports. 
 

Assistance with TIF creation, amendments, and reporting. 

Assist Tax Collector with Tax Acquired Properties, special tax assessments, title 

research, etc. Provides quarterly reports of assessing activity to the Board of Selectmen. 

One of the quarterly reports should occur verbally and in person to the Board on the date 

of the tax commitment. The remaining reports will be delivered in a form (verbal or 

written) to be determined by the Board. 

Performs related work as required, including, but not limited to, mapping services. 
 

Requirements of Work: 
 

Thorough knowledge of the principles, methods, and techniques of real and personal 
property assessment and valuation. 

 
Considerable knowledge of the provisions, ordinances, and general law governing 
real and personal property assessment and statutory exemptions. 

 
Ability to utilize statistical methods to analyze factors that may influence the value of 
property and to exercise judgment in determining property values and changes in Town 
structures and physical properties. 

 
Ability to plan and organize the maintenance of assessment and property records to 
facilitate the preparation of varied assessment roles and reports. 

 
Ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with taxpayers, the general 
public, employees, and other departments. Twice monthly office hours will be held, not 
including spring update work. 

 
Knowledge of building construction methods and architecture, municipal planning and real 
estate laws, municipal zoning and tax policy, and the mechanics of real estate sale and 
finance. 

 
Considerable knowledge of the geographic layout of the town. Inspections and inventory 
per Title 36 § 328.7 and 328.8. 
 
Training and Experience Required: 

 
Considerable experience in property assessment work involving the appraisal and 
evaluation of land and buildings, and preferably including some experience in the 
maintenance of standard office records. 

 
Satisfactory completion of a course of study leading to certification in real property 
appraisal, or graduation from an accredited college program with specialization in property 



 

Page 8 of 12  

assessment, business or public administration; or any equivalent combination of 
experience and training. 



 

Page 9 of 12  

Necessary Special Requirements: 

Possession and maintenance of the designation of Certified Maine 

Assessor. Vehicle for use in accomplishment of work. 



 

Page 10 of 12  

Attachment C 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TAX 
ASSESSOR SERVICES 

 
 

Assessor's Name:    
 
 

Address:    
 
 
 
 
 

Telephone:    
 
 

I have read the ‘Request for Proposals for Tax Assessor Services’ specifications, and I 
submit the following bid prices: 
 
Rate for Services: 
A. Number of days per contract year to perform services:    __________ 

 
B. My per-day rate to perform these services:     __________ 

 
C. Total annual cost to perform services:      __________ 

 
D. My per-day rate for any additional days requested by the  

town over the amount listed above in item A.     __________ 
 
Optional Services: 
 
A. Total cost to perform town-wide revaluation, if required: 
 
Other Expenses: 
The Town of Belgrade will provide an office space, desktop computer, internet/network 
connection, printer/copier/fax, desk, phone, and other standard office supplies, such as 
paper and pens, for the contract assessor. Please indicate whether you will be providing the 
following items for yourself or if you expect the town to incur and approximate dollar 
amounts for each. These other expenses will factor into the town’s selection criteria. 
 
     I will    Town must  Estimated 
Item    provide  provide  cost to town 
 
Laptop     _____   _____   __________ 
 
Mobile Phone   _____   _____   __________ 



 

Page 11 of 12  

 
Training/Conference  _____   _____   __________ 
 
IAAO Dues   _____   _____   __________ 
 
MAAO Dues   _____   _____   __________ 
 
Other    _____   _____   __________ 
 
Other    _____   _____   __________ 
 
Other    _____   _____   __________ 
 

TOTAL EST. COST TO TOWN  __________ 
 
 
If I am selected as the winning bidder, I can provide assessing services beginning on 
January 1, 2024. I will provide written proof of liability and worker’s compensation insurance 
(if applicable) to the town before the start of work. 
 
 
Date: ________________________  Signed: ____________________________ 
 
       Printed name: _______________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 12 of 12  

Proposals may be submitted on this bid form and must include proof of CMA certification, 
list of assessing experience, and three business references with contact numbers. Please 
return proposals to the Belgrade Town Manager in an envelope marked "Belgrade 
Tax Assessor Services Proposal" by 12:00 p.m. noon on Monday, 
_____________________________________. The winning proposal will be awarded at a 
later time after evaluation of all proposals received and approval by the Town of Belgrade 
Board of Selectpersons. 



Memo 
_______________________________ 

November 7 meeting 

 
The next regular Town of Belgrade Board of Selectpersons meeting is scheduled for 

Tuesday, November 7 which is state and local voting day. I recommend the Board move the 
meeting to Wednesday, November 8 at 6:30 p.m. 



Memo 
_______________________________ 

Pole Permit Application 

We have received a pole permit application from CMP for the Wings Mills 
Road, additional information is attached for your review and approval. 













Memo 
_______________________________ 

Warrants 

$  21,276.09 

$  10,426.99 

Payroll Warrant 116  

BMV, newsletter postage Warrant 117 

Warrant 118  

AP Warrant 119  

Payroll Warrant 120

BMV, State Payables 121  

$ 176,673.66

 



































Town Manager’s Report October 17, 2023 

The budget committee met October 11 with Department heads, me and treasurer Nick Poole to 

begin review of 2024 budget requests. The next meeting is scheduled for October 23 at 6 p.m. 

The Transfer Station roofing project has been completed! 

The Comprehensive Plan committee will meet October 25 at 5:30 p.m., all are welcome to 

attend. 

A reminder we have the FREE (for residents) rabies clinic coming up on the 21st from 9-1 at the 

North Belgrade Community Center. You can also register your dog at this event, please contact 

the office for additional information and sign up. Non-resident cost is $10. 

Work on the Village Dam will begin on the 23rd, we’ve posted additional information on our 

Facebook page and website, along with a drawdown plan for the lakes (included here). 

We have a few applications for the assistant Recreation Director position and will be scheduling 

interviews soon. 

KVCOG sent notice they have been awarded the Housing Opportunity Program grant through 

the state for assisting municipalities in amending their ordinances to comply with the 

requirements of P.L. 2021, ch. 672 (LD 2003 Affordable Housing). The Town of Belgrade is 

number three on the list of municipalities KVCOG has agreed to assist with this process. 

We have ordered a new laptop through our IT company to replace the out-of-date equipment 

being used to host all of our ZOOM meetings in the large meeting space located at the town 

office. The new equipment will be quicker and more secure than the current Windows 8 system. 

We are working on scheduling training for Trio Web prior to an estimated Go Live date in early 

February 2024. 

We received a call from a property owner in the salt triangle regarding issues with their washer. 

Bob the Plumber checked this and agreed the issues were caused by salt contamination. We 

have found a replacement and will be working to get it installed as soon as possible for the 

homeowner.  

A second notice of violation has been issued for 22 Horse Point Road. CEO Hans Rasmussen 

is monitoring the situation. 

Town Clerk Mary Vogel and I will be attending a meeting via ZOOM for our Security Assessment 

at First Entry (SAFE) on October 25. This will include an assessment on our facilities’ Security 

Management, Security Force, Resilience Management, Business Continuity, 

Emergency/Security Plans, Perimeter Security, Entry Controls, Parking / Delivery / Standoff, 

Barriers, Security Systems (CCTV and Intrusion Detection), Illumination, and other key aspects 

to security management. Once complete, we will be provided with a physical (printed and/or 

electronic) SAFE which will highlight all observed vulnerabilities and options for consideration to 

address these vulnerabilities.  This will be a helpful tool in supporting election security in our 

municipality. A fact sheet is included here for your review. 

 

 



On the radar 

Water Trustee appointments (2 positions open) 
Comprehensive Plan Committee / Plan updates (KVCOG contracted for updates) 
LD 2003 
Possible Broadband Committee 
Strategic Planning/Goals for 2023-2024 
Truck for Facilities 
CFAS repairs 
Tax Stabilization Reimbursement (LD290) 
Brown Tail Moth Treatment April 2024 
Fire Dept. Dry Hydrant Proposals 
2024 Budget Season 
New fire station land/building project 
TRIO Web go live early 2024 
 
 
 

 

 

 



 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 “2023-24 FALL LAKE DRAWDOWN & WINTER STORAGE ACTIVITIES”  

 
Throughout the year our Dams Committee is actively working and maintaining water levels on our 
lakes.  However, there are three planned activities that create public interest.  These are Lake 
Drawdown and Winter Management activities, Spring Refill, and our Summer Water Level 
Management practices.  The Committee is now preparing for FALL LAKE DRAWDOWN activities. 
 
Pursuant to the Belgrade Area Dams Committee’s Water Management Plan,  
Section I – FALL Draw downs and WINTER STORAGE of the plan specifies that: 
 

1. “The primary objective of fall and winter water management is to lower the lakes to 
accommodate increased rainfall and runoff which occurs in the fall and again in late winter 
and early spring.” FALL DRAWDOWN ACTIVITIES WILL DEPEND ON THE AMOUNT OF 
RAINFALL RECEIVED IN THIS AREA. 

 
2. Optimum drawdown levels:   

 
Salmon Lake    - 1.0 to 1.5 feet below Spillway 
Great Pond         - 1.5 to 2.0 feet below spillway 
Long Pond          - 1.5 to 2.0 feet below Spillway 
 

3. Water level limits – At no time shall the lakes be drawn down lower than: 
 

Salmon Lake      - 1.5 feet below Spillway 
Great Pond           - 2.5 feet below Spillway 
Long Pond            - 2.5 feet below Spillway 

 
4. General management programs: Draw downs must end by October 31st to avoid adversely 

affecting fish and wildlife.  Therefore, whatever lake level is achieved by October 31st will 
be the lowest level at which the lake may be kept throughout the winter, unless an unusual 
amount of rainfall in September and October force emergency provision for additional 
drawdown.  Note:  While there are more restrictive requirements as to what levels must be 
achieved by various dates, due to significant public interest in providing for lake use 
through Columbus Day weekend, the Dams Committee has and will continue to try to meet 
the needs of lake-side residents and, depending on water levels and the weather will 
endeavor to manage water levels to minimize any impacts through Columbus Day 
(October 9th) each year. 

 
This “Public Notice” is provided as an on-going attempt by the Belgrade Area Dams Committee’s 
to keep you informed of their water level management activities for our lakes.  If you have any 
questions about these activities, please contact your Town Office or the member of the Committee 
that represents your town: 
 
Belgrade:  Rome:   Oakland:  Sidney: Mt. Vernon: 
Craig Alexander Dick Greenan  Donald Borman Ronda Snyder Matthew Zeh 
Tom Bennett  Blaine Horrocks  Ella Bowman    
Ted Fontaine  Garrett Luszczki 
Cameron McCafferty  
Michael Belanger 
   
 
 
Town Manager, Belgrade Town Office – 495-2258       Sidney Town Office – 547-3340 
Clerk, Town of Rome – 397- 4011   Mt. Vernon Town Office – 293-2379 
Town Manager, Oakland – 465-7357 



 
 

 
 

cisa.gov central @cisa.dhs.gov @CISA.gov @CISACyber @cisa.gov As of June 8, 2023 

 

OVERVIEW 
The Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency’s (CISA) Security Assessment at First Entry (SAFE) is designed to 
rapidly evaluate a facility’s current security posture and identify options for facility owners and operators to mitigate 
relevant threats. 

PROGRAM DESCRIPTION 
SAFE is a rapid physical security assessment that assists facility owners and operators in implementing effective security 
programs. Using SAFE, CISA Protective Security Advisors (PSA) provide a structured review of a facility’s existing security 
measures and delivers feedback on observed vulnerabilities and options for improving security. 

SAFE VISITS 
The SAFE assessment is free, quick, and easy for owners and operators. It entails a local PSA conducting a brief walk-
through of a site and discussion of its existing security features and concerns. The SAFE visit will: 

• Focus on physical security 
• Take a few hours to complete 
• Be objective 

OUTCOMES FROM VISIT 
After completing the SAFE visit, the PSA delivers a report containing: 

• Commendable actions: During the assessment, the PSA will make note of existing practices that are noteworthy 
for their effectiveness and that should be continue. 

• Vulnerabilities and options for consideration: The PSA will also make note of any areas that could benefit from 
additional attention from a security perspective—areas relating to security management, entry control, perimeter 
security, and other physical security measures. Each identified vulnerability will have one or more mitigation 
options for owners and operators to consider. These options are purely voluntary, and each facility determines 
what actions to take in light of its own current security posture, anticipated growth or organizational changes, 
budgetary outlook, and other factors. 

• Individuals, agencies, and organizations: Useful points of contact for owners and operators as they proceed with 
efforts to improve a facility’s security posture. 

• Helpful links and references: Resources that provide more information about security options and ways to 
implement them. 

For more information or to seek additional help, contact us at ISDAssessments@cisa.dhs.gov. 

 

SECURITY 
ASSESSMENT AT 
FIRST ENTRY 

mailto:Xxxx.xxxxxx@cisa.dhs.gov
mailto:ISDAssessments@cisa.dhs.gov

	Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance
	Open Meeting
	October 3 2023 DRAFT minutes.pdf
	Present: Chair Barbara Allen, Vice Chair Carol Johnson, Selectperson Daniel Newman, Selectperson Peter Rushton, Town Manager Lorna Nichols, Bruce Galouch, Cory Alexander, Pat Donahue, Jamie Dionne, Dan MacGlashing, Loyce Haslett, Valerie Cummings, Fra...
	Remote participants: Richard Bourne, Lenny Reich, Doug Sawyer.
	Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance by Chair Barbara Allen at 6:30 p.m.
	Open Meeting
	Public Hearing: GA Maximums
	Public Hearing Junkyard Permits

	2023 Assessor RFP.pdf
	990 Augusta Road
	SECTION I: GENERAL INFORMATION
	B. Town Information
	C. Limits of Liability
	D. Type of Contract
	E. Questions
	F. Solicitation Process
	G. Conditions of Award
	I. Insurance Certificates
	J. Confidentiality
	SECTION II: PROPOSAL SPECIFICATION
	B. Bid Response Elements
	Failure to fully disclose requested information shall be grounds for disqualification. This section shall not be interpreted to require disclosure by State and Federal Statutes and/or court order.
	SECTION III: EVALUATION CRITERIA
	Attachment A
	Attachment B
	Nature of work:
	Essential Duties and Responsibilities:
	Requirements of Work:
	Training and Experience Required:
	Necessary Special Requirements:


	Attachment C

	memo warrants.pdf
	Memo

	surfaces.pdf
	Firmness, Stability, and Slip Resistance [§302.1]
	Carpet [§302.2]
	Openings [§302.3]
	Changes in Level [§303]
	Common Questions

	Town manager report october 17.pdf
	Security Assessment at First Entry (SAFE) Fact Sheet 2023.pdf
	overview
	Program description
	SAFE visits
	outcomes from visit
	SECURITY ASSESSMENT AT FIRST ENTRY





